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PETITION

Comes now the Petitioner, 1713 Wilson, Inc., t/a Village Grill and
pursuant to the provisions of Section 4-37 ( 3) (d) represents to the
Court:
1. That it is a Virginia corporation licensed to do business and
doing business at 1713 Wilson Boulevard, Arlington, Virginia.
2. That it presently holds a license from the Virginia Alcoholic
Beverage Control for the sale of beer on and off premises, license number
005057.
3. That it has been charged with a violation of the A.B.C. Act,
Section 4-37(a) (1) (g), Code of Virginia, as more particularly appears
by a copy of a Notice of Appeal Hearing Before the Board attached
hereto and marked Exhibit A.
4. A hearing was conducted before Hearing Officer A. Allen
Zachary, Jr., at Alexandria, on January 9, 1975. The Hearing Officer
concluded that the charge was substantiated by the evidence and recommended a suspension of the license for a period of thirty days.
[2] 5. An appeal hearing was held before the Board on March
5, 1975. On March 6, 1975, the Board issued an Order of Suspension
suspending the Petitioner's license for a period of thirty days. A copy of
the Order of Suspension is attached hereto and marked Exhibit B.
6. The Order of Suspension is contrary to the law and the evidence
adduced at the hearing of January 9, 1975.
7. The evidence contained in the transcript of the said hearing is
insufficient as a matter of law to sustain the charge. The Hearing Officer's conclusions as evidenced by his Findings of Fact and Conclusions,
a copy of which are attached hereto as Exhibit C, demonstrate conclusively that evidence extraneous and irrelevant to the charge was determinative of both the sustaining of the charge and determining the
duration of the suspension.
8. The suspension of the license for a period of thirty days constitutes a capricious and arbitrary abuse of the Board's discretion in that
the licensee's prior record was unblemished by any prior violation and
in view of uncontradicted evidence that such a suspension would have
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the effect of bankrupting the Petitioner adding its twelve employees
to the ranks of the unemployed. In other similar cases, the Board has
ordered less severe suspensions, or no suspension at all in lieu of payment by the licensee of the costs of the proceedings. The Board's action
is not sustainable under constitutional due process requirements as it
has no guidelines to insure uniform application of penalties among
licensees.
Wherefore the Petitioner prays that this Court take jurisdiction of
the case and;
[3] 1. Issue an Order staying the Order of Suspension pending
the outcome of this rna tter pursuant to Section 4-3 7 ( 3) (d) , Code of
Virginia;

2. Determine the issues herein defined and enter an Order prohibiting the suspension of the Petitioner's license;
3. In the alternative, reduce the term of the suspension consistent
with the law and the evidence as the Court may determine; and

4. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may find that
the ends of justice require.
1713 Wilson, Inc., t/a Village Grill
By ..................................................... .
Of Counsel
Murray H. Wright
McGuire, Woods & Battle
1400 Ross Building
Richmond, Virginia 23219
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Exhibit A
Commonwealth of Virginia
Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control
Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control Board
Richmond
January 31, 1975
Notice Of Appeal Hearing Before The Board

In The Matter of: 1713 Wilson, Inc., Village Grill, 1713 Wilson Boulevard, Arlington, Virginia 22201
License No. : 00505 7-Beer On And Off Premises
The Hearing Officer who conducted the hearing upon your license
has decided that the license should be suspended for a period of thirty
•
days, and thereafter placed on probation.
After reviewing the Hearing Officer's report, the Board proposes to
confirm the initial decision because the evidence indicates that:
1. On October 16, 1974, between 11:30 p.m. and 12:45 a.m., next
ensuing, you allowed disorderly conduct upon the licensed premises, in
violation of Section 4-37 (a) ( 1 ) (g) of the ABC Act.
The appeal hearing before the Board requested by you will be
held in the offices of the Board, Seventh Floor, Virginia ABC Building,
205 North Fourth Street, Richmond, Virginia on February 18, 1975,
at 2:00p.m.
At the appeal hearing, you may present evidence and argument
only in accordance with the Rules of Practice before the Board. You
may be represented by counsel if you so desire.

Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control Board
By: jsj W. B. Wilkinson
Secretary
CC: Mr. Leo R. Andrews, Attorney
1400 N. Uhle Street
Arlington, Virginia 22201
Chief of Police (Thomas Hoffman and Henry Churchbourne)
1400 N. Uhle Street, Arlington, Va.
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Exhibit B

[5]
Commonwealth of Virginia
Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control
Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control Board
Richmond
Order Of Suspension

In The Matter of: 1713 Wilson, Inc., Village Grill, 1713 Wilson Boulevard, Arlington, Virginia 22201, Beer On And Off Premises License
No. 005057
After due notice as required by law, this matter came on to be
heard on March 5, 1975, by the Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control
Board, the licensee being represented by counsel, on the charge that on
October 16, 1974, between 11:30 p.m. and 12:45 a.m., next ensuing,
the licensee allowed disorderly conduct upon the licensed premises, in
violation of Section 4-37(a) (1) (g) of the A.B.C. Act, and on report
of A. Allen Zachary, Jr., Hearing Officer, who conducted a hearing in
the matter at Alexandria on January 9, 1975, and, upon consideration
of the evidence adduced, the Board being of the opinion that it has
reasonable cause to believe the charge is substantiated by the evidence
and the privileges of purchasing and selling alcoholic beverages and
beverages granted by the license should be suspended; accordingly,
It Is Ordered that, on the basis of the aforementioned substantiated
charge, the privileges of purchasing and selling alcoholic beverages and
beverages granted by License No. 005057 to 1713 Wilson, Inc., Village
Grill, 1713 Wilson Boulevard, Arlington, be, and the same are hereby,
suspended for a period of thirty days, effective upon service of a true
copy of this order, and the licensee is forbidden to exercise such privileges during the period of suspension, the license otherwise remaining
in force and effect.
It Is Further Ordered that a true copy of this order be served
forthwith at the above establishment upon the licensee or someone
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regularly in its employ by an agent of the Board, who shall take up the
license and make a complete inventory of the stock of alcoholic beverages and beverages then upon the premises.
Enter: Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control Board
jsj Robert W. Jeffrey
Chairman pro tempore
Date: March6, 1975
Attest:

jsj W. B. Wilkinson
Secretary
cc: Murray Wright, Att'y., 1400 Ross Bldg., Richmond, Va.
Leo R. Andrews, Att'y., 1400 N. Uhle St., Arlington, Va. 22201
Police Chiefj(Thomas Hoffman & Henry Churchbourne), 1400 N.
Uhle St., Arlington (22201)
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Exhibit C

[6]
Commonwealth of Virginia
[SEAL OMITTED)

Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control
P. 0. Box 27491
Richmond, Virginia 23261

Notice Of Initial Decision

In The Matter of: 1713 Wilson, Inc., Village Grill, 1713 Wilson Boulevard, Arlington, Virginia 22201
License No: 00505 7-Beer On And Off Premises
Pursuant to Section 1-7 of the Rules of Practice of the Board, notice
is hereby given of my enclosed decision upon the above license.
The record in the case, including my decision, has been filed with
with the Board for its review in accordance with the Rules. Before a
final decision is reached by the Board upon the license, the licensee or
other interested parties who feel aggrieved by the decision may request
an appeal hearing before the Board at its central office in Richmond.
If such a hearing is desired, the Board must be notified to that effect in
writing at the above address within ten days after the date of the mailing
of this notice, following which the hearing may be arranged with notice
as to the date, time and place.
Should the Board be disposed to modify my decision, special notice
of its proposed decision in that regard, with similar notice of the right
to appeal such proposal will go forth to the licensee and other interested parties within the ten day period provided for appeals. In the
absence of such special notice, it may be assumed the Board proposes at
this time to adopt my decision as rendered.
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If an appeal hearing is not requested, it will be assumed the
licensee or other interested parties wish to waive the appeal and notice
of the final decision will go forth in due course.

Very truly yours,

jsj A. Allen Zachary, Jr.
Hearing Officer
Date: J-22-75
Mr. George P. Carrigan
Mr. Leo R. Andrews, Attorney
1400 Uhle St., Arlington, Va. 22201
Chief of Police (Thomas Hoffman & Henry Churchbourne)
1400 N. Uhle St., Arlington, Va.
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Findings Of Fact:

The evidence in this case shows that on Wednesday, October 16,
1974, between 11:30 p.m. and 12:45 a.m. of the next ensuing day
Arlington County Police Officers H. J. Churchbourne and T. H. Hoffman responded to a call at the Village Grill to investigate a fight.
Upon entering the establishment they observed Mr. George Patrick
Carrigan, president of the licensee-corporation, go into the kitchen area
of the restaurant. The waitress advised the police officers that there had
been no fight in the establishment.
Mrs. Susan Ann Carrigan, vice president of the licensee-corporation, advisedly speculated at that time that the officers were investigating
a fight, and stated her husband was not and had not been present. She
also advised the officers that there had been no fight on the licensed
premises, and they had no business in the restaurant, and attempted to
block their passage. Mrs. Carrigan called the police headquarters and
lodged a complaint that two police officers were harassing her.
On leaving the establishment, G. A. Depalma approached the
police officers and advised that Mr. Carrigan, without cause or reason,
had assaulted him in the restaurant. Mr. Depalma was taken to the
police station and subsequently to the hospital for treatment of facial
and wrist lacerations. Mr. Depalma obtained a warrant charging Mr.
George Patrick Carrigan with assault and battery.
The police officers returned to the establishment, found Mr. Carrigan present, and asked him to go outside (to avoid embarrassment)
where they placed him under arrest and served the warrant. During
that time Mrs. Carrigan again [8] displayed her hypersensitive personality, interfered with the police officers in making an orderly arrest,
and shouted, "Get your God damn hands off my husband, you son-of-abitch," and, "You are all a bunch of bastards." Mter Mrs. Carrigan
failed to heed the police officers' warnings, she was arrested for being
disorderly.
Mr. Carrigan denied that his wife abused the police officers, and
further claimed that she never used the type of language attributed to her
by the police officers. Mr. Carrigan stated that his wife was upset at seeing him arrested, and that he personally requested her to go back into the
restaurant. There was no indication that Mr. Carrigan resisted arrest or
was disorderly at that time.
On October 30, 1974, in Arlington County General District Court,
the charges against Mr. Carrigan were dismissed. On the same date,
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Mrs. Carrigan was found guilty for being disorderly and conditioned
upon her keeping the peace for six months ( 4/3/75) the charges would
then be dismissed.
Mr. G. A. Depalma testified that he had entered the Village Grill
on Wednesday, October 16, 1974, at approximately 11:00 p.m., and
was consuming a second beer at the restaurant (previously consumed
one beer at home) when Mr. Carrigan entered. Mr. Depalma stated
that he knew Mr. Carrigan as a patron at another retail establishment
and greeted him with a "pat" on the back of his head, whereupon
Carrigan repeatedly struck him (Depalma) and invited him to fight.
Depalma claimed he was told to leave the restaurant and he did so.
Mr. Carrigan testified that he was at home with his wife when the
waitress summoned them to the restaurant because a loud, boisterous
man (supposedly Mr. Depalma) drinking beer was threatening to "beat
up everybody [9] at the bar." Carrigan stated that he seated himself
on a stool next to Depalma for the purpose of observing him and had
already decided that Depalma should not be served more beer when
Depalma struck him (Carrigan) and knocked him off the bar stool.
Carrigan gave this as the reason for striking Depalma and hustling him
off the premises so fast that none of the patrons and only the waitress
had observed the encounter. He claimed Mrs. Carrigan was in the rest
room at the time and had no knowledge of the disorder.
Mr. Carrigan indicated this difficulty is the result of a personality
conflict between himself and Arlington Police Officer H. J. Churchbourne.
1730 Wilson, Inc. has held this beer on and off premises license
since April 2, 1971, for the operation of a topless go-go restaurant type
of business. The licensee has not previously been cited for violations of
the ABC Act or Board Regulations, and no written warnings have been
issued paralleling the alleged irregularities. The file indicates that
George Patrick Carrigan and Susan Ann Carrigan became president
and vice president respectively of the licensee-corporation on May 14,
1974.
Conclusions:
On October 16, 1974, between 11:30 p.m. and 12:45 a.m., next
ensuing, a disorder did take place upon the Village Grill's licensed
premises. Mrs. Susan Ann Carrigan, vice president of the licensee-corporation, and another person employed as a waitress failed to cooperate
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with local police officers investigating the disorder by falsely claiming
a disorder had not occurred. Mrs. Carrigan falsely claimed her husband
was not on the premises when in fact she knew otherwise. Throughout
the events of the evening, Mrs. Carrigan conducted herself in an unladylike manner.
[10] Mr. George Patrick Carrigan's claim that Mr. George A.
Depalma's conduct precipitated the disorder is not reasonable. The
implication that Mr. Depalma might have been intoxicated is not reasonable inasmuch as he was not arrested for being drunk in public, and
in his state of being, he obtained a warrant charging Carrigan with
assault and battery. In any event, Mr. Carrigan overreacted and involved himself in a disorder that could and should have been avoided.
If Mr. Carrigan's account of the evening's activities can be accepted
as factual, the waitress, supposedly the first person concerned by Depalma's action, should have asked the offending party to leave the
premises and/or called for police assistance and obtained a warrant
charging disorderly conduct.
It is evident from the outset that officials of the licensee-corporation did not want or appreciate police involvement. Such attitudes and
actions displayed by the licensee-corporation officials place restaurant
patrons in a dangerous environment.
The charge is substantiated by the evidence.
Decision:
That the license be suspended for a period of thirty (30) days, and
thereafter placed on probation.

*

*

*
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*

*
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September 15, 1975
OPINION OF TRIAL JUDGE

Re: Case No. 7842
1713 Wilson, Inc., t/a Village Grill
v.
Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control Board
Gentlemen:
This matter is now before this Court on a petition for review of an
Order entered by the Alcoholic Beverage Control Board (hereinafter
referred to as the A.B.C. Board), suspending the petitioner's, ( 1713
Wilson, Inc., t/a Village Grill) , (hereinafter referred to as petitionerlicensee) , license to sell beer on-off premises for a period of thirty days
for its having allowed disorderly conduct upon the licensed premises on
October 16, 1974, between 11 : 30 p.m. and 12 : 45 a.m. on October 17,
1974, in violation of Section 4-37(a) (1) (g) of the Code of Virginia,
(1950), as amended {the A.B.C. Act), and the Court's decision concerning same.follows.
Facts
An adversary hearing on the charge was held by Hearing Officer
A. Allen Zachary, Jr., and oral argument made on the record made
before him was presented by counsel to the A.B.C. Board, references
herein will therefore be made to the transcript of testimony made before
the Hearing Officer as " (Tr. p. .... ) " and to the transcript of the oral
argument made before the Board as" (Bd. p ..... ) ."
[28] The petitioner-licensee is a licensee of the A.B.C. Board and
holds a beer on-and-off premises license.
The petitioner-licensee operates the Village Grill as a restaurant
in Alexandria, Virginia offering entertainment in the form of go-go
dancers (Tr. p. 6).
The evidence in the record presents numerous conflicts at pivotal
points as to just what occurred in the petitioner-licensee's premises during the time period in question. There also appear to be, in the record,
two possible disturbances which may have been the basis of the Examiner's and Board's actions. The first involved George A. Depalma,
a customer, and George Patrick Carrigan, the president of the petitioner licensee corporation; and the second involved Susan Ann Car-
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rigan, his wife, and vice president of petitioner-licensee corporation,
and members of the Alexandria police force.
As to the first instance of alleged disorderly conduct, Depalma (the
customer) gave the following version in his testimony before the Examiner. He stated, inter alia, that he arrived at the Village Grill at
about 11:00 p.m. on October 16, 1974. Prior to arriving there, he
drank one beer at home (which is located right behind the Village
Grill) , and was in the process of drinking a second at the Village Grill
when the first disturbance occurred (Tr. p. 16-18). At approximately
11 : 30 p.m., he testified, George Patrick Carrigan (president of petitioner-licensee corporation) came in and sat next to him. Depalma
then related that he patted Carrigan on the back of his head and
Carrigan hit him three or four times and ordered him out of the Grill.
He testified in pertinent part as follows:

*

*

*

"A. Well, I know him [Carrigan]. He comes in the Safeway
store where I work at. And, anyway, I patted him on the back of
his head, and he turned away. He said, 'Don't you do that again.'
And before I knew it, he hit me three or four times. He moved out
in the floor and said, 'Come on.' And I just stood there. And then
he ordered me out of the place.

Q. Approximately how many patrons were present at the
time? [29] A. I didn't pay too much attention to that, but it was
pretty crowded at that time.

Q Was Mrs. Carrigan present? A Who?
Q Mrs. Carrigan? A No, sir, I didn't see her, no. In court,
it was the first time I ever saw her, I never saw her before."

*

*

*

(Tr.p.l7)
George Patrick Carrigan, however testified to a different version
stating, inter alia, that he received a phone call at home from his bartender that there was an unruly customer in the Grill, and he thus returned to the Grill at about 11 :30 p.m. on the evening in question. He
took a seat at the bar next to Depalma, observed him, and testified
further, in pertinent part, as follows:

*

*

*
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"Q Did the waitress or bartender tell you about his [Depalma's] conduct prior to your arriving at this establishment? A
Yes.

Q What did she tell you about his conduct? A She told
me everything that he had done, and I told her not to serve anything else to the gentleman.
Q Now, the question is, did you interrogate her and make an
inquiry of her as to what his conduct had been during the time
just before you arrived. A Yes, sir.
[30] Q And what did she say about his conduct? A
Well, he had been very boisterous, and I sat down beside him to
observe his behavior at that time.

Q All right, what happened then? A Well, I talked to
him one time, and told him that he was to leave as soon as he
finished his beer.
Q Did you make an observation of his demeanor at the time?
Could you tell me whether or not he was intoxicated? Did you
form an opinion as to that? A I thought, after I had set there
for a minute, that he had had enough to drink. As soon as he
finished that glass of beer he was due to leave.
Q Then what happened? A As I was sitting there he
struck me on the back of my head.
Q What happened then? A He hit me so hard he knocked
me off the stool. This guy is so big, look at him, and he was standing
there over me, and I couldn't run away from him, so I had to protect myself.

Q Did you try to get him outside?
back door.

A Yes, out of the

Q Are you telling Mr. Zachary, all you did after you were
struck was to hustle the gentleman out of the back door?
sir."

*

*

*

A

Yes,

(Tr. p. 22-23).
[ 31] Carrigan testified that he had never been in a Safeway
where Depalma worked (Tr. p. 26).
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The time of this incident is fixed by the record at 11:30 p.m. (Tr.
p. 16, 17, 19, 20, 22).
Officer Churchbourne of the Arlington County Police Department
subsequently arrived at the Village Grill in response to a call indicating
that a fight was in progress. Mrs. Carrigan met Officer Churchbourne
and Officer Hoffman, also of the Arlington County Police Department,
as they arrived, and she inquired as to why they were present. Mrs.
Carrigan denied that there had been a fight; stated that she had not
called the police; that they had no business in her establishment; denied
that Mr. Carrigan was then present and called the desk sergeant to
advise that she was being harassed by two police officers. Officer
Churchbourne, however, testified that Mr. Carrigan was, in fact, present
(Tr. p. 9, 11) Although the officers questioned several people who were
apparently in the establishment at the time, no one had any knowledge
of a fight on the premises (Tr. p. 9).
The second alleged disturbance occurred approximately one hour
after the original disturbance, when Officers Churchbourne and Hoffman returned to the Village Grill to serve the warrant on Mr. Carrigan
for assault and battery (Tr. p. 9). When they arrived, Mr. Carrigan,
who was seated at the bar, was asked to step outside in order that the
warrant could be served, in order to avoid embarrassment, which he did.
They went outside the door of the premises to the sidewalk, (the
record is silent as to details concerning the location or distance from the
building itself), when Mrs. Carrigan came outside on two occasions and
said something to the officers as they were arresting Mr. Carrigan. Officer Churchbourne testified, (which was corroborated by Officer Hoffman), that after he and Officer Hoffman went outside the door of the
premises on the sidewalk, and to the right of the establishment, just
adjacent to the door, he asked Mr. Carrigan to face the wall, place his
hands on the wall and spread his legs apart in order to be searched
prior to arrest. At this time, he testified, Mrs. Carrigan, who had followed them outside, attempted to reach through the officer who was
standing to his left. He stated further that she stated "in a loud voice for
me to get my God damned hands off her husband," and she was
advised at least three times to go back inside because of her behavior,
which she eventually did. No more than thirty seconds elapsed when
she returned outside. Upon her return Officer Churchbourne thated that
Mrs. Carrigan was "holding the door open so that her actions and her
statements could be heard by those inside and outside the premises and
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stated in a loud voice that we were all a bunch of bastards" (Tr. p. 10).
At that time he stated, Mr. Carrigan had been arrested and he also
arrested Mrs. Carrigan for disorderly conduct in a public place. Mr.
Carrigan denied that his wife had pushed or cursed the officers in his
presence and stated that the officers over reacted (Tr. p. 28).
The assault and battery charges against Mr. Carrigan were either
nol prossed or dismissed by the Alexandria District Court, and Mrs.
Carrigan was found guilty of disorderly conduct, was fined and placed
on six months probation (Tr. p. 8, 24-25, 29).
The petitioner-licensee was subsequently charged by the A.B.C.
Board with allowing disorderly conduct upon the licensed premises
between the hours of 11:30 p.m., October 16, 1974, and 12:45 a.m.
next ensuing in violation of Section 4-37 (a) ( 1) (g) of the A.B. C. Act.
The charge was first heard before Hearing Officer A. Allen
Zachary, Jr. on January 9, 1975, in Alexandria, Virginia, who sustained
the charge and recommended that the license be suspended for thirty
days, and the licensee placed on probation.
The examiner's determination and recommendation to the A.B.C.
Board was argued orally by counsel before the Board on March 5, 1975.
The Board also sustained the charge, adopted the Examiner's recommendation and entered an order suspending petitioner's license for a
period of thirty days, from which order, the petitioner-licensee seeks
review by this Court pursuant to Section 4-37(3) (d) of the A.B.C.,
supra. The pertinent factual details of the offense as disclosed by the
record are in conflict at crucial points and will be hereinafter discussed.
Discussion
The purview of this Court's review of an A.B.C. Board ruling has
been defined by Section 4-37(3) (d) of the Code of Virginia (1950) as
amended, provides in pertinent part as follows:

*

*

*

(d) Review.-The action of the Board in suspending or revoking any license pursuant to the provisions of this chapter shall
be subject to judicial review upon petition to the Circuit Court of
the city of Richmond only, which petition shall be filed within
thirty days from the entry of the order of the Board suspending or
revoking such license. Provided, however, that upon the judicial
review of a suspension such review or appeal shall be limited to
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the determination of errors of law or_ a capricious and' arbitrary
abuse of discretion. (Emphasis added)

*

*

*

[33] It is important therefore to note at the outset, that the perimeter of this Court's review of the Board's and Examiner's actions is
limited to errors of law and to abuse of discretion. This Court in reviewing the record in this case cannot substitute its opinion as to the
credibility of witnesses for that of the Hearing Examiner who actually
saw and listened to those who testified unless the testimony reviewed
is inherently incredible or contrary to human experience. Should the
action of the Board not be thus supported by credible evidence, then its
action was arbitrary and inherently capricious and in such case, this
Court must act.
Sufficiency of the Evidence Issue
The first issue raised by the petitioner is that the evidence adduced
before the Hearing Officer was insufficient as a matter of law to conclude that the licensee had allowed disorderly conduct upon the licensed
premises in violation of Section 4-3 7 (a) ( 1 ) (g) of the Code of Virginia
( 1950), as amended (The A.B.C. Act).
Section 4-37 (a) of the A.B. C. Act, supra, provides in pertinent part
that "the Board may suspend or revoke any licenses issued by it if it has
reasonable cause to believe ... " and then the statute enumerates certain
prohibited conduct. (Emphasis added).
"Reasonable cause to believe" is thus clearly the burden of proof
by which the totality of the evidence is to be weighed in determining
whether a charge under the statute has been proven.
The narrow issue here on our review, thus becomes whether there
is in the record sufficient evidence, as a matter of law, to conclude that
the Hearing Examiner and the Board had reasonable cause to believe
that the petitioner-licensee allowed disorderly conduct upon the licensed
premises in violation of Section 4-37 (a) ( 1) (g), supr.a. "Reasonable
cause to believe" is something much less than the burden of proof required for conviction in a criminal prosecution of proof beyond a reasonable doubt and is certainly something more than surmise, probability
and suspicion, in a case of this nature. The burden of proof here has
been likened to that required in a preliminary hearing where reasonable
or probable cause is applicable. See: Tyson's Inn v. Virginia Alcoholic
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Beverage Control Board (Case No. A-2913). It must be such proof
that would arouse in reasonable men the conclusion that the event took
place, but not necessarily the conviction that, beyond a doubt, it did
in fact take place.
[34] Section 18.1-254 of the Code of Virginia ( 1950), as
amended, defines disorderly conduct in public places in the following
terms:

*

*

*

"If any person behaves in a riotous or disorderly manner in

any street, highway, public building, or any other public place,
other than those mentioned in the preceding section, or causes any
unnecessary disturbance in or on any public conveyance, by running
through it, climbing through windows or upon the seats, failing to
move to annoying passengers or employees therein, he shall be
guilty of a misdemeanor."

*

*

*

The dominant purpose of the statute was to preserve peace and
good order, and is to be strictly construed. Hackney v. CommonwealthJ
186 Va. 888 ( 1947). Further, in order for there to be disorderly conduct
there must be "disturbance or commotion affecting the peace or good
order ... or ... words or acts of vicious or injurious tendency, offense
to good morals or public decency." See: Taylor v. CommonwealthJ 187
Va. 214 ( 1948).
In order for there to be disorderly conduct under the statute, the
disorderly conduct must be committed in the public, and the public
must be aware of the conduct, otherwise the public peace would
not be disturbed. Under Section 4-37(a) (1) (g) of the A.B.C. Act, the
disorderly conduct must not only be committed in the public, but it
must be committed on the licensed premises.
As to the first alleged disturbance between Mr. Depalma and Mr.
Carrigan, there is no evidence of a probative value that any member
of the public actually heard the fight between them. While the Examiner and the A.B.C. Board must only find reasonable cause to believe
that an infraction of the A.B.C. Act occurred, their finding still must
be based on credible evidence and all essential elements of the offense
as charged must be proved, and the burden of proof to do so is upon
the Board and that proof must be affirmatively established in the record
in order that the Examiner's and Board's findings can be sustained.
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[35] Here, if the incident involving Mr. Carrigan and Mr. Depalma is to be used as the basis for sustaining the charge against the
petitioner-licensee, then the evidence on the record must establish by a
preponderance of the evidence that there was reasonable cause to believe
that the public peace inside of the licensed premises was disturbed,
regardless of whether one believes the version testified to by Mr.
Carrigan or the version given by Mr. Depalma, as to who caused the
incident.
We begin the examination of the evidence in the record with the
testimony of the first witness called by the Examiner, A.B.C. Board Inspector, J. H. Holland, and we find that he never talked to any of the
patrons who were present in the establishment at the time and his investigation covered only interviews with Mr. Depalma, Mr. Carrigan
and Officer Churchboume (Tr. p. 7). His only testimony that touches
the issue as to whether the public peace was disturbed by the CarriganDepalma incident was that "the fight took place inside the licensed
establishment." (Tr. p. 4).
Board Inspector J. A. Kelley who assisted in the investigation,
testified next that his testimony would be substantially the same as that
given by Inspector Holland, and therefore, he too, added nothing on
the point in issue (Tr. p. 8).
Officer Churchbourne, sheds first light on the point under examination in his testimony which occurred next, however, that testimony negates any public awareness of a disturbance caused by the CarriganDepalma incident. Officer Churchbourne candidly stated:
"We questioned several people in the establishment who stated
that they had no knowledge of the fight on the premises." (Tr. p.
9).
Although, he stated that the establishment was about half to twothirds full, numbering approximately thirty people, (Tr. p. 11), and
that a waitress was questioned, none of these people were called to
testify by the Examiner or by the petitioner-licensee.
Officer T. H. Hoffman who assisted Officer Churchbourne in the
investigation of this matter, next testified that his testimony would be
substantially the same as that given by Officer Churchbourne and added
nothing new on the point as to whether the public was aware of any
disorder caused by the Carrigan-Depalma altercation (Tr. p. 15).
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Officer Churchbourne's testimony, that none of the patrons interviewed knew anything about the Carrigan-Depalma altercation is to
be accorded great weight. First, he was called by the Examiner as the
[36] Board's witness. Secondly, he and Officer Hoffman were the first
and only officers on the scene and the only officers who actually talked
to some of the patrons, within an hour after the altercation is alleged to
have taken place. Their opportunity of observation of the physical layout of the scene and their ability to ascertain exactly what happened
from witnesses, was highly important to the sustainance or the nonsustainance of the charge against the petitioner. However, the only evidence offered by Officer Churchbourne was of an exculpatory nature.
While this is highly commendable of Officer Churchbourne, and is what
the public has a right to expect of all of our law enforcement officers,
his testimony clearly, not only does not establish reasonable cause to
believe that disorderly conduct was committed, because the public peace was disturbed as a result of the Carrigan-Depalma altercation,
but affirmatively establishes that the patrons knew nothing about the
altercation.
Mr. Depalma, the next witness, likewise, added nothing toward
establishing that the public peace was in fact disturbed inside the
licensed premises because of the altercation between himself and Mr.
Carrigan. He comes closest to doing so in his testimony that he was
talking to another person when Mr. Carrigan came into the establishment and sat next to him (Tr. p. 17). That person was not called to
testify and there is no evidence in the record, as to whether the other
person was still in Mr. Depalma's presence, or vicinity, when the Carrigan-Depalma altercation took place.
Further, when asked how many patrons were present at the time,
Mr. Depalma stated "I didn't pay too much attention to that, but it was
pretty crowded at that time." (Tr. p. 17)
Mr. Carrigan, who next testified that the music was playing; the
patrons' backs were to them and the incident with Mr. Depalma happened so quickly that "In about two seconds the gentleman [Mr. Depalma] was out the back door. I don't think any of the customers even
saw the thing happen. The back door is so close and we went right out
the back door." (Tr. p. 26) He was probed further by the Hearing
Examiner on the point and the following colloquy took place.

*

*

*
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By Mr. Zachary:
"Q And the man hit you hard enough to knock you off the
barstool. You are a right heavy man-you are not overweight, you
are no light person, you look strong. Are you going to tell me that
the man hit you hard enough to knock you off the barstool, and
nobody saw it? [36] A I'll have to explain to you, sir, the situation, where we were located. The dining room is here, and the door
is back here at the end. Back there is only the men's room and the
hall way going out of that door.

Q We are talking about a man who is boisterous, standing
at the bar, going to whip everybody there, and finally hits a man
and knocks him off the barstool, and nobody sees it? A Well, I
was trying to explain the location of the bar, and the closeness of
that part of the bar to the door. When he hit me and knockecl me
off the bar stool, and I grabbed him and hustled him out of the
back in about two steps. And the music was playing, and most of
the patrons' backs were to us, and it happened so fast nobody really
saw it.
Q Nobody saw it? A I don't know.
Q You don't know of one soul that saw it? A I really
don't, no.

Q

You don't know of one soul that saw it?

Mr. Andrews: I think he is referring to customers Mr. Carrigan.

Q You don't know of any person who observed this take
place?

A

No, just the girl behind the bar.

Q Did any person see that thing take place? A The bartender. It happened to be that the bartender is a girl, if there's any
question about a man or anything.
Mr. Andrews: In fact, it is the same bartender that called you
at home?
[38]

A

Yes, sir.

Q Is this the person who testified m your support and
against Mr. Depalma? A

Yes.
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Q Or in your behalf, one way or the other?
the judge dismissed the charge."
(Tr. p. 27-28)

*

*

A

Yes. And

*

While it is true, as seen above that petitioner's attorney "adroitly"
elicited testimony from petitioner that a bartender-waitress was present,
the. totality of Mr. Carrigan's testimony indicates that that person's
testimony, if offered, would have been favorable to the petitioner's
position and this Court so finds (Tr. p. 27-28).
Clearly, all of the above testimony establishes that none of the
customers of the establishment knew about the Carrigan-Depalma incident and there was no basis, on the record for a finding by the Examiner
and the Board that there was reasonable cause to believe that a breach
of the pubiic peace, (which is necessary in order to constitute disorderly
conduct) , took place inside of the licensed premises, because of the Carrigan-Depalma incident, regardless of whether Carrigan or Depalma
caused the incident.
Put another way, if a shot is fired in the public street and the street
is empty, and therefore no one heard it, we ask rhetorically, "has there
been a sound"? Likewise, we may query, if a fight takes place in a
public place and the public, which is present, is unaware of it, has the
public peace been disturbed? Without the hearing there can be no
sound, and without public awareness there can be no breach of the
public peace and there is no disorderly conduct. This Court therefore
finds from the record that there was no reasonable cause to believe that
the conduct of Carrigan and Depalma constituted disorderly conduct
and therefore the charge herein cannot be sustained because of that
incident.
The mere fact that one person strikes another does not of itself
constitute reasonable cause to believe that disorderly conduct took place.
[39] This Court rejects the petitioner's argument, however, that
because the assault and battery charge was dismissed or nol pr.ossed
against Mr. Carrigan by the District Court, that determination
should have some persuasive effect upon the determination of the instant
charge. Mr. Carrigan, in the criminal proceeding, enjoyed a presumption that he was innocent, which the Commonwealth had to overcome,
which does not exist in the instant proceeding.
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Further, the burden of proof in the criminal proceeding was proof
beyond a reasonable doubt while here on review, the Examiner's and
Board's finding and determination must be sustained if there is only
reasonable cause to believe that the violation of the A.B.C. Act did
occur. It is entirely possible that there was not proof beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Carrigan did in fact assault and batter Mr. Depalma in the criminal trial, but on the other hand, on the same evidence,
there may be proof sufficient to constitute reasonable cause to believe
that the charge of allowing disorderly conduct on the licensed premises
ought to be sustained. Lastly, there apparently were additional witnesses
who testified on Mr. Carrigan's behalf in the criminal trial who did not
testify in the trial before the Hearing Examiner, thereby explaining the
basis for the different favorable result.
We thus turn our attention to the second possible basis for sustaining the charge, to-wit: that the subsequent conduct of Mrs. Carrigan, Vice President of the petitioner corporation justified a finding by
the Examiner and the Board that the petitioner-licensed corporation allowed disorderly conduct on the licensed premises through her conduct
with Officer Churchboume and Officer Hoffman upon the arrest of
Mr. Carrigan. Before attention is turned to this issue, however, certain
preliminary objections raised by the plaintiff to any use of this incident
in the sustaining of the charge must be resolved.
Due Process Notice Issue
Petitioner-licensee first contends that Mrs. Carrigan's conduct cannot be utilized as the basis for sustaining the charge since the notice of
violation was not sufficient to fairly appraise the licensee of the charges
made against it, in view of the fact that the Hearing Officer was
motivated more by Mrs. Carrigan's conduct than by that of Mr.
Carrigan. The issue thus raised is whether the licensee had proper
notice of the charge against it in accordance with due process of law.
[ 40] The Court rejects this contention entirely and finds that as
a matter of law, the licensee was accorded proper notice in accordance
with due process of law. The first answer is that the petitioner's attorney
never formally requested a continuance when he learned that Mrs.
Carrigan's conduct was also being used as a basis for the charge and
did not even "offer" to make her available until the close of the evidence (See Tr. p. 31-32).
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The second answer to petitioner's contention is that the charge
was made against the licensee corporation and not against Mr. Carrigan
himself. Mr. Carrigan and Mrs. Carrigan had been both arrested for
separate incidents which happened in and about the premises. There
was no reasonable basis for petitioner's conclusion that the one incident
was the basis for the charge and not the other. The petitioner corporation should have prepared itself for any misconduct which may have
arisen during the time period involved. All of which conduct Mr. and
Mrs. Carrigan, who are principals in the licensee-corporation had personally been present and had participated in although the degree and
nature of that participation is disputed. It is hard to conceive of a fairer
form of notice that the petitioner could have been given.
Even further, and more fundamentally, the uncontroverted evidence established that the two incidents occurred within the time
specified in the charge, 11 : 30 p.m. and 12 : 45 a.m. This Court concludes that the petitioner was accorded fair notice of the charge.
Abuse of Discretion By Hearing Examiner In Not Allowing
Petitioner A Continuance To Bring Mrs. Carrigan and
Other Witness Forward In Her Behalf Issue
Petitioner next raises the issue as to whether it was reversible error
for the Hearing Officer to refuse to allow the licensee a continuance in
order to bring Mrs. Carrigan and other witnesses in her behalf once he
learned that the charge involved conduct on her part. The Court has
answered this issue above and rejects this contention as noted above.
This court finds that no request for a continuance was ever, in fact,
made by petitioner's trial attorney and his "offer" of Mrs. Carrigan
and other witnesses came too late at the end of the evidence. 1 During
1 At the conclusion of all the testimony from all witnesses who were present and
who were to testify, petitioner's counsel, Mr. Andrews, stated that when he received
the Board's charge, he believed that the charge was based upon Mr. Carrigan's
personal conduct and not Mrs. Carrigan's and therefore he did not ask her to
appear before the Board and the following colloquy transpired between the Hearing
Officer and counsel :

*

*

*

"Mr. Andrews: You can appreciate the problem that I might have. At
the beginning of the hearing as to your inquiry about the other two witnesses.
Upon receiving the notice of hearing from Mr. Shobe, it was my belief
that the gravity of the charges were directed toward Mr. Carrigan personally, and not to the conduct of his wife, and that is why I didn't ask her
to appear. As far as the waitress to substantiate Mr. Carrigan's testimony, I
believed that since Judge Dodd had dismissed the charges against him, corroboration would not be necessary here.
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the hearing the petitioner's [ 41] attorney made no objection to any
testimony coming into evidence concerning Mrs. Carrigan's conduct
and in fact, questioned witness on direct and cross-examination about
her conduct. Mrs. Carrigan was Vice President of the licensee corporation. During the hearing, she was reportedly at work, and was otherwise available to testify. It was a matter within the sound discretion of
the trier of fact, the Hearing Examiner. This Court finds, as a matter
of law, from the totality of the evidence, that the Examiner did not
abuse his discretion in going forward with the hearing.
[ 42]

Sufficiency Of The Evidence As To Mrs. Carrigan's
Conduct In Order To Substantiate The Charge

Having disposed of petitioner's preliminary objections to the use of
Mrs. Carrigan's conduct as a basis for sustaining the charge against the
petitioner-corporate licensee, the issue as to her conduct is whether
the evidence of her conduct adduced at the hearing before the Hearing
Officer was sufficient, as a matter of law, to justify the conclusion that
there was probable cause to believe that the petitioner-corporate licensee
had allowed disorderly conduct upon the licensed premises as charged.
The problem as to the sufficiency of Mrs. Carrigan's conduct as
being the basis for sustaining the charge is two-fold, as not only must
her conduct have disturbed the public peace, but it must have been on
the licensed premises in order for it to properly be the basis of the
charge.
Again it is Officer Churchbourne's testimony which must serve as
the linchpin for the sustaining of the Board's charge, for he was the
Of course, it would be beneficial to have them testify, and I would be
only too happy to make them available to you so that you could hear their
testimony. I believe the waitress would make a good witness in that she is
familiar with all that went on. I will make them available to you whenever and
wherever you wish.
Mr. Zachary: I'm sorry, but you can't run your witnesses up here one
at a time.
Mr. Andrews: I hope that you can appreciate my problem. It's my fault
for not having them here today. I thought the hearing was only in relation
to Mr. Carrigan's conduct. I am making this offer to the Board if it wishes
to hear these two witnesses at any future date.
Mr. Zachary: Is that all?
Mr. Andrews: I would like to address myself now to the actual citation."
(Emphasis supplied)

Tr. p. 30-31)

*

*

*
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only eyewitness who was called by the Examiner and who testified
fully as to what happened, as to Mrs. Carrigan's conduct, and it is
thus only in his testimony that there is any credible evidence that Mrs.
Carrigan breached the public peace and that the conduct occurred on
the licensed premises.
As to Mrs. Carrigan's conduct, Officer Churchbourne testified on
direct examination in pertinent part as follows, in response to Mr.
Zachary, the Hearing Examiner's questions in reference to his second
visit to the licensed premises in order to serve an arrest warrant on
Mr. Carrigan:

*

*

*

"At a later time I was called by officer Hoffman to assist him
in serving the warrant on Mr. Carrigan. We proceeded to the
establishment. Mr. Carrigan was inside seated at the bar. Mrs.
Carrigan was also present. Officer Hoffman advised Mr. Carrigan
that we had a warrant in our possession for assault and battery, and
asked him to step outside of the establishment so that that warrant
could be served. That was done to avoid embarrassment.
[43] We went outside the door on the sidewalk and stepped
t.o the right of the establishment just adjacent to the door, and
there Officer Hoffman read the warrant at that time. I asked Mr.
Carrigan to turn around and face the wall, and place his hands on
the wall and spread his legs apart to assist in a search prior to
arrest.
At this time Mrs. Carrigan, who had followed us outside, attempted to reach through the officers that were standing to my
left and between Mrs. Carrigan and her husband. At that time
she stated in a loud voice for me to get my God' damned hands off
her husband. She was advised at least three times to go back inside
because of her behavior, and she eventually did.
No more than thirty seconds elapsed and she was outside again
holding the door open so that her actions and her statements could
be heard by those inside and outside the premises, and stated in a
loud voice that we were all a bunch of bastards. At that time Mr.
Carrigan had been secured, and I placed Mrs. Carrigan under
arrest for disorderly conduct in a public place. She posted collateral but asked a court hearing, and in the court of Honorable
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Judge Dodd was found guilty of the charge of disorderly conduct."
(Emphasis added)
(Tr. p. 10)

*

*

*

While there is a conflict in the evidence (even among the Board's
witnesses) as to what Mrs. Carrigan did and said, assuming, but not
deciding that what she did, and/or, said would otherwise constitute
disorderly conduct, there is no credible evidence in the record, from
any witness that what she did and said was either actually seen or heard
inside the licensed premises. The only testimony on the point found in
the record that comes close is Officer Churchbourne's statement that
she spoke in a "loud voice" and his conclusionary and incompetent statement, (though not objected to), that she held the door open " ... so
that her actions and her statements could be heard by those inside
and outside the premises" (Tr. p. 10). While this statement is evidence
in the record, the weight attached to it is nil due to the lack of legal
foundational basis for it.
[44] Further, it is clear from the record that the reason why
Officer Churchbourne, Officer Hoffman and Mr. Carrigan went outside
the restaurant in the first place was to avoid the embarrassment that
would accompany an arrest made in front of the patrons who were
in the restaurant at the time. They attempted to remove themselves
from the public view and hearing and they were at a place where this
goal could be attained when Mrs. Carrigan did and said what she
did {Tr. p. 10).
This Court, therefore, holds that as a matter of law, the public
peace inside the restaurant was not disturbed. Thus, the only remaining public peace which Mrs. Carrigan could have disturbed, upon the
evidence in the record, would have been the peace of that public which
was on the outside of the restaurant.
The petitioner-licensee is charged herein with having allowed certain disorderly conduct on the "licensed premises." Therefore, it must
now be determined if there is sufficient evidence (as a matter of law)
to establish there was reasonable cause to believe that the petitioner
allowed disorderly conduct on that portion of the licensed premises
which existed outside of the restaurant as charged herein.
Further, Section 4-3 7 (a) ( 2) (c) of the Code of Virginia ( 1950) , as
amended, extends the boundaries of the "licensed premises" to include
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" ... the real estate, together with any buildings or other improvements
thereon designated in the application for a license as the place at which
the . . . distribution, use or sale of alcoholic beverages shall be performed."
There is, however, little evidence in the record as to just where the
parties were at the time Mrs. Carrigan said and did what she did. As
noted above, Officer Churchbourne, (who had had disputes and confrontations with Mr. and Mrs. Carrigan prior to this incident) (Tr. p.
28), stated that in order to execute the warrant upon Mr. Carrigan, for
assault and battery upon Mr. Depalma, "We went outside the door on
the sidewalk and stepped to the right of the establishment just adjacent
to the door" (Tr. p. 10). That Mrs. Carrigan" ... followed us outside,"
and that upon her being advised at least three times to go back inside,
because of her behavior-she left and went inside. He then testified
that in not more than thirty seconds, " ... she [Mrs. Carrigan] was
outside again, holding the door open so that her actions and her statements could be heard by those inside and outside the premises, and
stated in a loud voice that [45] we were all a bunch of bastards * * * I
placed Mrs. Carrigan under arrest for disorderly conduct in a public
place" (Tr. p. 10). Officer Hoffman who did not testify in detail stated,
summarily, that his testimony would be substantially the same as
Officer Churchboume and therefore Officer Churchboume's version
of this incident stands, in the record, as being corroborated by Officer
Hoffman.
The only other witness who testified in some detail as to Mrs. Carrigan's conduct was Mr. Carrigan. He stated that she was screaming;
that he didn't recall her cursing any of the police officers and that she
did not push the officers or shout obscenities at them, and stated that he
knew she had not called Officer Churchbourne a son-of-a-bitch (Tr. p.
28). He was not asked, nor did he testify as to the exact location of Mrs.
Carrigan at the time of his arrest. His testimony, however stands uncorroborated in the record.
It is only clear from the evidence that there was reasonable cause
to believe that Mrs. Carrigan was somewhere outside of the restaurant.
The crucial question, however, is whether the foregoing evidence also
establishes reasonable cause to believe that Mrs. Carrigan was situated
on the licensed premises when she participated in disorderly conduct.
Even assuming, but without deciding, that Mrs. Carrigan's conduct
was in fact disorderly, this Court holds that there is not sufficient evi-
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dence in the record to establish reasonable cause to believe that such
conduct was performed on the licensed premises. At best the evidence
establishes, (and this Court so holds) , only reasonable cause to believe
that when Officers Churchbourne, Hoffman and Mr. Carrigan first went
outside of the restaurant, they stepped to the right of the establishment just adjacent to a door on the sidewalk. There is no evidence as
to what door this was or whether that door and the location of Officers
Churchbourne, Hoffman and Mr. Carrigan was on the licensed premises.
The evidence next establishes that Mrs. Carrigan did come to some
point outside of the restaurant, with no credible evidence as to where
she was at the time of the alleged misconduct other than that she was
holding "a door" at the time she allegedly cursed the Officers. The
record, on the other hand, does establish reasonable cause to believe that
when Mrs. Carrigan reached the outside of the premises, she went to
the point where Officer Churchbourne, Officer Hoffman and Mr. Carrigan were situated. However, there is no evidence' which would establish that, even they, were on the licensed premises. Officer Churchbourne testified, as noted above, that when he, Officer Hoffman and
Mr. Carrigan first came outside, they were situated on the sidewalk,
which without more, would place them off the licenses premises (Tr.
p.lO).
[46] Officer Churchbourne places Mrs. Carrigan clearly, physically outside of the restaurant, however, the record is void of any evidence which would give rise to a reasonable cause to believe that she
was on the licensed premises at the time she allegedly participated in
the disorderly conduct as charged and without that crucial evidence,
the charge herein cannot be sustained. There is not one scintilla of
evidence that would give reasonable cause to believe that the licensed
premises extended further than the door through which Mrs. Carrigan
passed to the outside of the restaurant. It is probable that all of the
parties to this incident and the Hearing Officer are quite familiar with
the physical arrangement of this restaurant and know the boundaries
of the licensed premises, however, this Court is limited in its review
to the record made at the hearing before the Hearing Officer as correctly pointed out by the respondent in its Memorandum of Law and
that record does not establish what those boundaries are, and where
Mrs. Carrigan was within them. This Court's limited holding is, therefore, that there was no credible and competent evidence, in the record,
which could serve as the basis for the Hearing Officer's determination

App. 29
that there was reasonable cause to believe that disorderly conduct did
take place within the confines of the licensed premises.
Respondent incorrectly relies upon Hackney v. Commonwealth, 186
Va. 888 ( 194 7), however that case is distinguishable from the case at
bar and is not apposite here.
The Court held in Hackney that a person could violate the disorderly conduct statute who was physically in the public highway when
he participated in conduct which tended to corrupt the morals or to
outrage the sense of decency of others who may not be in the highway
but were within the sight or hearing of the perpetrator.
The distinguishing factors in the case at bar from Hackney is that,
here there is no credible evidence establishing reasonable cause to believe
that Mrs. Carrigan's statements were made on the licensed premises, as
charged herein, or that the persons who heard her statements were on
the licensed premises.
Further, even if it be assumed that she was off the licensed premises
when she made the statements, her conduct would not constitute disorderly conduct under Hackney because there is no evidence that anyone within the licensed premises ever heard her statements, since there
is no evidence that any of the patrons heard the statements and there is
not sufficient evidence to give rise to a reasonable cause to believe that
Officers Churchbourne and Hoffman, (who testified that they heard
the statements) , were themselves within the licensed premises at the
time they heard them. If they were on the licensed premises and if Mrs.
Carrigan was not, then it would seem that the principle espoused [ 4 7]
in Hackney would be operable, however, this Court passes no judgment
on that question. If she was on the licensed premises and they were
not, it would also seem that the Hackney principle would be operable.
Here, however, the evidence does not give rise to a reasonable belief
as to where Mrs. Carrigan, Officer Churchbourne and Officer Hoffman
were situated in reference to the licensed premises and the patrons did
not hear her statements, and therefore Hackney is not applicable here.
Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, this Court holds that, as a matter of law,
there was no reasonable cause to believe that the petitioner had violated
Section 4-37(a) (1) (g)b of the A.B.C. Act as charged herein, and the
Board's Order of Suspension entered on March 6, 1975, suspending peti-
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tioner's license for the privileges of purchasing and selling alcoholic
beverages for a period of thirty days, is hereby reversed.
Counsel for the petitioner will present a sketch for order to this
effect, preserving respondent's objection to the Court's ruling.

*

*

*

FINAL ORDER

[48]

*

*

*

This appeal of an Order of Suspension from the Virginia Alcoholic
Beverage Control Board came to be heard upon a petition pursuant to
Section 4-37 (3) (d), Code of Virginia, and the Court having reviewed
the charge against the Petitioner, the transcript of the hearing before
the Respondent's hearing officer, the transcript of the proceedings on
appeal before the Board, the Notice of Initial Decision, findings of fact
and conclusions of law of the Respondent's hearing officer and the Order
of Suspension as well as having heard the arguments of counsel; and
being of the opinion that the evidence adduced before the hearing officer
on January 9, 1975, was insufficient as a matter of law to give the
Respondent reasonable cause to believe that a violation of Section
4-3 7 (a) ( 1 ) (g) had occurred as charged on the licensed premises on
October 17, 1974; it is therefore Ordered that for the reasons stated in
the Court's [49] opinion of September 15, 1975, the Order of Suspension appealed from is reversed and of no force and effect. The exception of the Respondent to the foregoing rulings is noted.

*

*

*

NOTICE OF APPEAL AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

[50]

*

*

*

Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control Board, a Department of the
Commonwealth of Virginia, hereby gives notice pursuant to Rule 5: 6
of the Supreme Court of Virginia, that it appeals from an order entered
by the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, Division I, on the 6th
day of October, 1975, reversing an order entered March 6, 1975, by
said Board suspending the beer on and off premises license of 1713
Wilson, Inc., and will apply for a writ of error.
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[51 ]

Assignments of Error

Respondent alleges that the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond,
Division I, erred:
1. In holding that the evidence was not sufficient to constitute
reasonable cause for the Board to believe that the licensee allowed disorderly conduct relative to the incident involving
George Patrick Carrigan and George Depalma.

2. In holding that the evidence was insufficient to constitute reasonable cause for the Board to believe that the licensee allowed
disorderly conduct relative to the incident involving Susan Ann
Carrigan.
3. In holding that the burden of proof was upon the Board to
prove by a preponderance of the evidence that there was reasonable cause to believe that the public peace was disturbed.
4. In holding that the evidence of Officer Churchbourne affirmatively established that patrons of the licensee knew nothing of
the altercation between George Patrick Carrigan and George
Depalma.
5. In ruling that evidence of a bartender-waitress would have been
favorable to the licensee had she been called as a witness.
6. In holding as a matter of law that the public peace inside the
restaurant was not disturbed.
[52] Inasmuch as the record of the proceedings before the Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control Board have already been filed with
the Clerk of this Court, no other transcript, statement of facts or other
incidents of the case is to be hereafter filed.
TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING BEFORE THE BOARD

*
[53]

*

*

CHARGE

1. On October 16, 1974, between 11:30 P.M. and 12:45 A.M., next
ensuing, you allowed disorderly conduct upon the licensed premises,
in violation of Section 4-3 7 (a) ( 1) (g) of the ABC Act.
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J. H. HOLLAND, Sworn, testified:

[54]

By Mr. Zachary:
Q You are Inspector J. H. Holland of the Virginia ABC Board,
are you not? A Yes, sir, I am.

Q Do you have personal knowledge of the alleged irregularities?
A No, sir.

Q Did you make an investigation in this matter? A Yes, sir.
Q All right, give us the results of your investigation? A On
Wednesday, October 16, 1974, approximately 11:30 P.M. and Thursday, October 17, 1974, at 12:45 A.M.

Q Between those times? A Between those times. Officers Hoffman and Churchbourne of the Arlington County Police Department,
responded to a "fight in progress" call at this establishment. Their investigation revealed that George Angelo Depalma was the victim of an
attack by George Patrick Carrigan, President of this corporation.
Mr. Depalma received multiple cuts and lacerations above the
right eye, inside the mouth and on the right wrist, causing need for
emergency room treatment at Arlington Hospital. A warrant was issued
against George Patrick Carrigan for assault and battery.
When the officers served the warrant, Susan Ann Carrigan, wife of
George Patrick Carrigan and vice president of this corporation, started
pushing and pulling at the officers, and shouted, "Get your God damned
hands off my husband you son-of-a-bitch."
She was advised to go inside, which she did. However, she came
outside a second time, shouting, "You are a bunch of bastards." Susan
Ann Carrigan was arrested for disorderly conduct.
The fight took place inside the licensed establishment. The abusive
language by Mrs. Carrigan on the outside and by the main entrance
of this establishment.
In Arlington County Court, the charge of assault and battery
against Mr. Carrigan was nol-prossed. On the disorderly charge against
Mrs. Carrigan, $20.25 collateral was forfeited. The officers are here
to testify.
[55] Q What office does George Patrick Carrigan hold in this
corporation? A He is president of this corporation.
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Q And Susan Ann Carrigan, does she hold any position in
this corporation? A She is vice president.

Q And she is George Patrick Carrigan's wife? A Yes, sir.
Q Give us the history of the corporation, please? A This corporation became licensed April 2, 1971. It is located on Wilson Boulevard, a main thoroughfare in Arlington County. They cater to office
workers, business and professional people, laborers and the general
public.
Mr. Andrews: Excuse me for interrupting for a minute, I assume
I will have an opportunity to enquire of Mr. Holland with respect to his
testimony?
Mr. Zachary: Yes, sir.
Mr. Andrews: And I assume it will be at the completion of the
history which he is giving now?
Mr. Zachary: We used to wait to get the history at the conclusion
of the hearing. We have found that we may save some time by getting
it in at the beginning. The things now being covered by the local inspector, how long has it been licensed, does it have a good reputation,
that sort of thing, will be asked during the hearing if we don't get it in
now.
Mr. Andrews: I was only making the inquiry for my own edification, and to determine how relevant the history of this establishment is
to the citation. This is my point. Does the Hearing Officer take into consideration the past history of the establishment in regards to whether or
not the license is suspended or revoked?
Mr. Zachary: If it should be shown that any citations have been
issued previously for violations of the law, or any written warnings have
been issued paralleling the objections being [56] considered here today,
they would be taken into consideration in determining the matter.
Mr. Andrews: I see.
Mr. Zachary: But those irregularities, if there are any, would not
be gone into-I mean, we are not going to go into what caused the
Board to issue a Board Order suspending a license for so many days, we
are not going to go into details surrounding warning notices on such and
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such a day. I don't know whether there were any, but those would only
be a matter of record, and that's all.
Mr. Andrews: Thank you.
Mr. Zachary: Would you like for us to wait until last.
Mr. Andrews: To be perfectly frank with you, I don't understand
why you have to go into all of that, but I have no objection.
Mr. Zachary: Do you want it now?
Mr. Andrews: I have no preference one way or the other. I have
no objection, and again, I apologize for taking up this time on it.

Q · Go ahead. A The corporation caters to office workers, business offiCials, laborers and the general public. It is a restaurant type
of operation, and offers live entertainment in the form of topless go-go
dancing during all hours of operation. The file reveals no written warnings or citations paralleling this charge. The corporation has operated
in a satisfactory manner since licensed.

Q It was licensed on April 2, 1971, with a beer on and off premises license? A Yes, sir.
Q Is that all? A Yes, sir.
Mr. Zachary: Mr. Andrews, do you have any questions of this
witness?
Mr. Andrews: Yes, sir.
[57]

By Mr. Andrews:

Q Mr. Holland, you have just recited the details of the investigation you conducted into this incident on October 16, 1974? A Yes,
sir.

Q How did you conduct the investigation, did you interview the
witnesses? A Yes, sir, I did. I interviewed. I was contacted by Officer
Churchbourne of the Arlington County Police.

Q He made the contact with you? A Yes, sir. I then contacted
Mr. George Depalma, the victim. And one of the others I contacted
was Mr. Carrigan.

Q So your investigation was gathered from talking to Officer
Churchbourne, and talking with the alleged victim? A Yes, sir.
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Q Was that done prior to the court date, Mr. Holland? A Yes,
sir, it was.
Q You did indicate a court date in your direct-examination, what
was that, sir? A There was no date. I said charges against Mr. Carrigan was nol-prossed, and that the charge against Susan Ann Carrigan,
the collateral of $20.25 was forfeited.
Q And where did you ascertain this information? A From the
Arlington County Court.
Q Did you go there or call? A I called.
Q Okay. You have not talked to-have you talked to Officers
Churchbourne or Hoffman, or Mr. Depalma since this court date? A
Just to determine if they would be present here today for this hearing.
Q Are you aware that Mr. Carrigan appeared before Judge
Dodd of the Arlington County General District Court and stood trial
for this charge and was tried and was acquitted. [58] A No, sir,
I was not.
Mr. Andrews: I have no further questions, sir.
J. A. KELLEY, Sworn, testified:
By Mr. Zachary:
Q You are Inspector J. A. Kelley, of the Virginia ABC Board,
are you not? A I am, sir.

Q And did you assist Inspector Holland throughout the investigation of the alleged irregularities in this matter? A Yes, sir, I did.
Q If you were to testify in detail, would your statements be substantially the same as those given by him? A Yes, sir, they would.
Q Is there anything you would add to or take away from what
he had to say? A No, sir, I don't believe so.
Mr. Zachary: Mr. Andrews, any questions?
By Mr. Andrews:
Q Mr. Kelley, do you-have you substantiated the disposition
of the criminal charges in Arlington County Court, the assault and battery charge you said was nol-prossed? A Yes, sir. That was the in-
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formation we had. I think we made two inquiries, and that information
was given both times.

Q

How was that inquiry made?

A

By phone, I believe, both

times.

Q And you called the clerk's office. A Yes.
[59]

Mr. Andrews: That's all I have, Mr. Zachary.

H. J. CHURCHBOURNE, Sworn, testified:
By Mr. Zachary:
Q Would you identify yourself for the record, please?
J. Churchbourne, Arlington County Police Department.

A

Henry

Q That is Henry J? A Yes, sir.
Q Do you have personal knowledge of the alleged irregularities?
A Yes, sir, I do.
Q

All right, we will hear from you now.

A

What is that, sir?

Q Tell us what you know. A On the date in question here, I
went to the Village Grill on Wilson Boulevard to assist Officer Hoffman
serve a warrant. I had been there earlier that evening, approximately
an hour before, on a call of a "fight in progress." When I arrived at the
scene, Mrs. Carrigan met us as we entered the establishment and questioned us as to why we were there in her establishment. We stated that
we were investigating a fight.
She stated that we had no business in her establishment, and that
there was no fight and that she didn't call the police. As I moved to the
rear of the establishment, she attempted to block my way and the officer
that was with me. When we explained to her that we had a right to be
there and we were investigating a fight, she went to the pay phone in
the back of the establishment and I overheard her place a call to the
desk sergeant stating that she was being harassed by two police officers
and wished to talk to a supervisor.
We questioned several people in the establishment who stated that
they had no knowledge of a fight on the premises. When we were about
to leave, I asked Mrs. Carrigan if her husband, George Patrick Carrigan, was there and she said no, however, he was present.
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When we left the scene, we were contacted by Mr. Depalma, who
stated that he had been assaulted on the premises.
[60] Q Was that the fight you were sent to investigate? A
Yes, sir. He was-he stated that he had been assaulted by the owner of
the club. He stated that he did not know his name. He gave us a
physical description of the subject-we have had contact with Mr.
Carrigan before-and the description matched.
Mr. Depalma was treated at Arlington Hospital for the wounds
that he received in the fight, and then he secured a warrant for the
arrest of Mr. Carrigan. Now, I don't know in which order. I don't know
if he secured the order and then received the treatment or vice versa.
I was not present. Officer Hoffman handled the report. I left the scene,
I cleared and went back on duty.
At a later time I was called by Officer Hoffman to assist him in
serving the warrant on Mr. Carrigan. We proceeded to the establishment. Mr. Carrigan was inside seated at the bar. Mrs. Carrigan was
also present. Officer Hoffman advised Mr. Carrigan that we had a warrant in our possession for assault and battery, and asked him to step
outside of the establishment so that the warrant could be served. That
was done to avoid embarassment.
We went outside the door on the sidewalk and stepped to the right
of the establishment just adjacent to the door, and there Officer Hoffman read the warrant at that time. I asked Mr. Carrigan to turn around
and face the wall, and place his hands on the wall and spred his legs
apart to assist in a search prior to arrest.
At this time Mrs. Carrigan, who had followed us outside, attempted
to reach through the officers that were standing to my left and between
Mrs. Carrigan and her husband. At that time she stated in a loud voice
for me to get my God damned hands off her husband. She was advised
at least three times to go back inside because of her behavior, and she
eventually did.
No more than thirty seconds elapsed and she was outside again,
holding the door open so that her actions and her statements could be
heard by those inside and outside the premises, and stated in a loud voice
that we were all a bunch of bastards. At that time Mr. Carrigan had
been secured, and I placed Mrs. Carrigan under arrest for disorderly
conduct in a public place. She posted collateral but asked a court hearing, and in the court of Honorable Judge Dodd was found guilty of
the charge of disorderly conduct.
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A

Q What was the disposition of the charge against Mr. Carrigan?
I have no knowledge of that proceeding.
Q You actually made two visits to this establishment? A That

is right.

Q One to investigate the complaint of a fight? A That is right.
[ 61 ] Q And the second visit was to assist Officer Hoffman to
serve a warrant? A Yes, sir.

Q And at the time of your first visit, either you or Officer Hoffman asked if Mr. Carrigan was present? A That is right.

Q And you were advised that he was not present? A Yes. She
stated, her exact words were somewhat in effect that she hadn't seen
him all night, and to her knowledge he wasn't there. But in fact when
we arrived we saw Mr. Carrigan leave by the back door, because as we
walked out, we walked out into the back yard which lets out into the
alley, and he could not be found.
Q At the time you arrived to investigate the fight, the first time,
was Mr. Carrigan present? A He did not make himself known to
us as we entered the premises, and we saw him leave by the back door.
Q Was Mr. Depalma present at that time, when you first arrived? A He contacted us as we were about to leave. He had obviously been, or had signs of having been in some type of altercation.
Q And that was when you left Officer Hoffman with Mr. Deplama? A That's right.
Q At that time approximately how many patrons were present?
A I would say that the establishment was half to two-thirds full. It
was not a packed house, about half, I guess. At least half of the seats
were full.
Mr. Andrews: Now, I think the Hearing Officer is looking for a numerical number.
A He didn't indicate that to me.

Q I asked how many people were present? A Thirty people.
Q And was anyone else working in the establishment other than
Mrs. Carrigan? A There was a waitress behind the bar who I ques-
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tioned. And [62] there was a dancer, and the normal cook in the back
and the table waiter. I can't recall exactly how many.
Mr. Zachary: All right, thank you. Mr. Andrews, do you have
any questions?
By Mr. Andrews:
Q Do you mean to testify in your response to Mr. Zachary that
you don't know what happened to the charge against Mrs. Carrigan?
A Well-

Q You don't know what the disposition was? A Well, I heard
a rumor, but I can't say for sure.
Q Let's hear what the rumor was? A She was found guilty
in court.
Q

She was found guilty? A Yes.

Q

Do you know the disposition? A No.

Q

You don't know? A I have no personal knowledge.

Q You weren't in the court that day? A If I was I was not
aware of it.
Q You said she was found guilty? A Yes.
Q What was the sentence? A I believe it was suspended for a
period of time.
Q If she had a clean record, what would happen? A I assume
it would be dismissed.
Q You do a lot of assuming. A No, I speak from facts.
[63] Q I am relieved to hear that. You say you saw Mr. Carrigan leave the property? A Yes.

Q How could you when you arrived at the front? A We could
see him in the back.
Q You saw him going out of that door? A We thought we saw
him going out the back.
Q

The back of the establishment? A Yes.

Q And you saw him going out? A The back door. There are
only two doors to the establishment.
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Q And you thought you saw him going out of the door? A Yes.
Q Where were you when you saw him going out of the back?
A We were standing-! don't know, from the place we were standing,
there is an aisleway between the front door and the dance stand, you can
only see the end of the bar.

Q You saw-can you see the back door? A No.
Q And there is, in fact, two doors down there, but one goes into
the kitchen? A Yes.
Q You saw him going into the door of the kitchen? A He could
have been going into the kitchen now that you mentioned it. There is a
hallway. Through a short hallway there are two bathrooms to the left.
Several tables that go up to the rear entrance, then the doorway to the
right that leads into the kitchen.

Q So Mr. Carrigan could have been going into the kitchen? A
Yes.
[64] Q Okay. Now, did you discuss this incident with a waiter?
I believe you testified you talked to a waiter and a dancer? A No,
that's not what I testified.

Q What did you testify? A
that was waiting behind the bar.

I spoke to the waiter, to the girl

Q What did you speak to her about? A

I asked her about the

altercation on the premises.

Q And her answer was? A No.
Q And where did you first talk to Mr. Depalma? A Who?

Q Mr. Depalma? A I spoke to him-actually, I don't believe
- I observed him approach Officer Hoffman.
Q He didn't approach you in the establishment? A As we were
walking outside on the front of the establishment.

Q Now, it is true also that you contacted Mr. Depalma on your
own to make a complaint against Mr. Carrigan? A I did not. I contacted Mr. Depalma to assist in the investigation.
Q You made the initial contact? A
that.

I wouldn't know about
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Q

That's beside the point, you did contact him?

A

Yes.

Mr. Andrews: I have no further questions of this witness at this
time, however, I would like for him to stand by.
Mr. Zachary: Thank you, sir.
['65]
T. H. HOFFMAN, Sworn, testified:
By Mr. Zachary:
Q Identify yourself for the record, please? A
man, Arlington County, Virginia.

Thomas Hoff-

Q Do you have personal knowledge of the irregularities in this
case? A

Q
bourne?

Yes, sir.
Did you participate in the investigation with Officer ChurchA I did.

Q Have you heard his testimony here this afternoon? A I have,
sir.

Q If you were to testify in detail, would your statements be substantially the same as those given by him? A Substantially, yes, sir.

Q Is there anything you would add to or take away from what he
has had to say? A Yes, sir. When we entered the Village Grill on our
initial call, I saw Mr. Carrigan. Then I didn't see him any more as we
continued on through the Village Grill. I asked the bartender later, after
Mr. Depalma had approached us, if he was around. She said he hadn't
been there all evening.

Q That was Mr. Carrigan? A Yes. When Mr. Depalma approached me, I asked him what had happened. He said he had been
struck by the owner. I then took him up to the violations bureau where
he secured a warrant for assault and battery. At that time he requested
medical attention. The rescue squad was summoned and he was transported to Arlington Hospital.
I believe that is all I would add that hasn't already been covered.

Q How did the court find Mr. George P. Carrigan? [66] A
With reference to the assault and battery charge, I happened in the
court at that time, at the tail end and I was sent out in the hall. I was
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not asked to testify, and I was not present when the decision was
rendered. And I have no idea.
Mr. Zachary: Mr. Andrews, do you have any questions of this
witness?
Mr. Andrews: No, sir, I do not.
G. A. DEPALMA, Sworn, testified:
By Mr. Zachary:
Q You are Mr. George Angelo Depalma, is that correct? A
Yes, sir.

Q Mr. Depalma, did you have occasion to be at the Village Grill
on Wilson Boulevard on Wednesday, October 16, 1974, between 11:30
P.M. and 12:45 A.M.? A It was 11:00 P.M. Here is a paper on that.
(Passing a slip of paper to Mr. Andrews)
Mr. Andrews: Mr. Zachary, this appears to be a page of a report
from the Arlington Hospital. It shows 12:15 A.M. at the hospital the
morning of the 17th. That's what this is supposed to be. I would object
to it as it is not in response to the question.

Q Do you mean it was at 11:00 o'clock? A I was in the restaurant at 11 :00 o'clock.

Q Were you there at approximately 11 : 30? A Yes, sir.
Q All right, tell us what you know of the alleged irregularirregularities. A Well, I was standing there, and I was talking to
another person about weight lifting. I had previously broke my leg in
two places. [ 67] I was telling this fellow about about using weights on
my legs, and things like that.
And, anyway, I have heard-I had had two beers, that is with the
beer I was drinking then, and then Patrick Carrigan came in and he
set next to me.

Q Who is Patrick Carrigan? A He is the manager. (Pointing)
Q Go ahead. A Well, I know him. He comes in the Safeway
store where I work at. And, anyway, I patted him on the back of his
head, and he turned away. He said, "Don't you do that again." And
before I knew it, he hit me three or four times. He moved out in the
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floor and said, "Come on." And I just stood there. And then he ordered
me out of the place.

Q Approximately how many patrons were present at the time?
A I didn't pay too much attention to that, but it was pretty crowded
at that time.
Q

Was Mrs. Carrigan present? A Who?

Q Mrs. Carrigan? A No, sir, I didn't see her, no. In court, it
was the first time I ever saw her, I never saw her before.
Mr. Zachary: Mr. Andrews, do you have any questions of this
witness?
By Mr. Andrews:
Q Mr. Depalma, what time did you arrive at the Village Grill?
A Around 11 : 00 o'clock.

Q

Where did you stay previously? A At home.

Q You live near here? A Right behind the Village Grill, Lee
Gardens.
Q And you went to the Village Grill around 11:00 o'clock? [68]
A Yes.
Q

All right, what did you do there? A I had two beers there.

Q

Had you been drinking previously? A

I had a beer at home.

Q How many beers had you had before the fight? A Yes, sir.
That was my third.
Q

You only had three beers? A Yes.

Q

Were you intoxicated? A No, sir, I was not.

Q You were absolutely sober? A Yes, I was.
Q You were told to leave by the bartender? A No, I was told
to leave by Mr.-the owner.

Q If I understand your testimony correctly, you say you were not
asked to leave by the bartender? A No, sir, I was not.

Q All right, sir, what was the first thing Mr. Carrigan said to
you?

A He said, "Don't do that again."
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Q Was that after you quote patted unquote him on the back of
the head? A Yes.

Q Can I ask you why you did that?
from shopping in the store.

A Because I know him

Q Officer Churchbourne said you told him you didn't know him,
and could only describe a person who hit you. [69] A I have seen
him shopping in the store.

Q Do you pat everyone on the head that you see shopping in the
store?

A

No, sir. 1-

Q How was he sitting? A
this. (Indicating)

With his back to me, something like

Q Was he looking at you? A No, well, he could have seen
me if he looked sideways.
Q Do you make a practice of going around patting people on
the back of their heads? A If I know them and they are friends.
Q And his back to you at that time? A Like I said, something
like this.
Q

And you were standing?

Q

And you patted him?

A

A

Yes, I was standing.

Yes.

Q Did he say anything after that?
again. Next time"-something like that.

A

He said, "Don't do that

Q Did you see Mr. Carrigan come in front of you? A No, sir.
Q Did you see him come in that night? A No, sir, I didn't.
Q Was he there at 11:00 o'clock when you arrived? A No, sir,
he wasn't.

Q Can you recall when was the first time you saw Mr. Carrigan
or observed Mr. Carrigan in the restaurant? [70] A I would say
about a half an hour later, something like that. I don't know exactly
the time.
Q When you patted him on the back of the head, was that the
first time that you saw him?

A

Yes.

Q You testified that you patted him on the back of the head and
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then he turned around and said something to you, is that right?
Yes.

Q What happened after that?
in the jaw.

A

A

He got up and punched me

Q And what did you do? A I didn't do nothing. I just stood
there. I know what assault and battery is.
Q And he said to you, "Get out of here."? A Yes.
Q

And did you get out?

A Yes, I did.

Q You went out by yourself? A Yes.
Q You testified that at the time of the trial of Pat Carrigan in
Arlington General District Court, as a matter of fact, didn't the judge
evict you from the court, didn't he ask you to leave while Mr. Carrigan
was testifying? A No, sir. That was while the waitress was testifying.

Q While the waitress was testifying, and the judge had the bailiff
take you out of the courtroom? A Yes.

Q And you did leave the courtroom?
what went on after that.

A

Yes, and I don't know

Q Tell us why you were taken out of the courtroom? [71]
Because I told him that her testimony was a lie.

A

Q And the judge told you to be quiet? A He said to the bailiff
to take him out of the courtroom, and the bailiff told me to be quiet,
and I went outside and I stood out there.
Q Do you know how the trial ended up? A The Commonwealth's Attorney said that the case was dropped, that's all he said.

Q The case was dropped, okay. He told you after it was over?
A Yes. The Commonwealth's Attorney came out and talked to me
afterwards.

Q And he told you at that time that the case was dropped? A
Yes, sir.
Mr. Andrews: I have no further questions, Mr. Zachary.
Mr. Zachary: Thank you.
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G. P. CARRIGAN, Sworn, testified:
By Mr. Andrews:
Q For the record, you are George Patrick Carrigan? A Yes,
sir.

Q You are president of the Village Grill? A Yes, sir.
Q Mr. Carrigan, directing your attention to the evening of October 16, 1974, I believe you were at home were you not? A Yes.

Q Would you tell Mr. Zachary as best you can, in your own
words, what happened during the evening hours of October 16, 1974?
[72] A Well, I had a phone call from the bartender that there was
an unruly customer there. I told the bartender at that time to serve him
no more beer, and my wife and I got in our car and drove to the Village
Grill. When we arrived we came in through the back door of the
restaurant.
Q Approximately what time was that? A
I can't tell you exactly what time it was.

I guess about 11 :30,

Q What was the first thing that you did? A The first thing
that I did was to check with the bartender. He showed me the gentleman who was causing all the problems, threatening to, "Whip everybody in the place."
Q Did the bartender advise you exactly what had happened
prior to your getting there? A
I took a seat next to the door.

Yes. Then, in order to observe him,

Q Did the waitress or bartender tell you about his conduct prior
to your arriving at this establishment? A Yes.

Q What did she tell you about his conduct? A She told me
everything that he had done, and I told her not to serve anything else to
the gentleman.
Q Now, the question is, did you interrogate her and make an
inquiry of her as to what his conduct had been during the time just
before you arrived? A Yes, sir.

Q And what did she say about his conduct? A Well, he had
been very boisterous, and I sat down beside him to observe his behavior
at that time.
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Q All right, what happened then? A Well, I talked to him one
time, and told him that he was to leave as soon as he finished his beer.

Q Did you make an observation of his demeanor at the time?
Could you tell me whether or not he was intoxicated? Did you form an
opinion as to that? [73] A I thought, after I had set there for a
minute, that he had enough to drink. As soon as he finished that glass
of beer he was due to leave.

Q Then what happened? A As I was sitting there he struck
me on the back of my head.

Q What happened then? A He hit me so hard he knocked
me off the stool. This guy is so big, look at him, and he was standing
there over me, and I couldn't run away from him, so I had to protect
myself.
Q Did you try to get him outside? A Yes, out of the back door.
Q Are you telling Mr. Zachary, all you did after you were struck
was to hustle the gentleman out of the back door? A Yes, sir.

Q And what happened after that? A Well, I went-came back
in. When we went out the door closed and I had to walk back around
to the front to come in the front door, and then I went into the kitchen.

Q How long after that did Officers Churchboume and Hoffman
arrive at the scene? A The first one that I saw was Mr. Hoffman
when he brought the warrant.

Q So you didn't see either of the officers until Officer Hoffman
served the warrant on you?

A No, sir.

Q What happened when he served the warrant on you? A
Well, Mr. Hoffman asked me to go outside, he said that he didn't want
to make a scene in front of the customers inside.

Q And you promptly went outside with him? A Yes, sir.
Q What happened when you got outside? A He read the warrant to me, and then he served it.
[74]

Q And then? A He handcuffed me.

Q Did you give him any resistance at al? A Absolutely none.
Q As a matter of fact, you willingly went with them? A
Yes, sir, I wanted to straighten the matter out.
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Q And your wife? A I think I can explain the reason my wife
became upset out front. I was trying to cooperate with the police and
go willingly, and they insisted on putting me in handcuffs. They handcuffed me and searched me, which was no way to treat a person who
had committed no crime.
Q Of course she knew that you were charged with assault and
battery because you had tried to remove a disorderly patron from your
establishment? A Yes.
Q Now, you at no time gave Officer Hoffman any difficulty? A
No, sir.

Q And you stood trial before Judge Dodd in Arlington County
District Court? A Yes, sir.

Q Will you tell Mr. Zachary what the disposition of the case
was? A I was found not guilty.
Q And that was after the hearing by Judge Dodd? A Yes.
Q A full hearing, it was nol-prossed? It was not dropped or
anything? You were found not guilty of the charges that were brought
against you by Mr. Depalma? A Yes, sir, that is correct.

Q And your wife was tried on the disorderly conduct charge,
separate from yours in a prior trial, and she was found guilty, was she
not? [75] A Yes,sir.

Q And what was the sentence? A I think six months, after
which the charge would be suspended and she would be refunded the
collateral of $20.25.

Q Didn't Judge Dodd say six months suspended sentence, with
the charges to be dropped after that? A Yes, sir.

Q And you have never allowed any disturbances, or any disorderly conduct, or any intoxication upon your premises, have you? A No,
Sir.

Q And you try to run a clean, decent and orderly place? A
Yes, sir.

Q And you have never had any prior trouble? A No, sir.
Mr. Andrews: Mr. Zachary.
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By Mr. Zachary:
Q Did the waitress tell you that there was an unruly patron
threatening to, I believe you said, "Whip everybody at the bar?" A
She told me that on the telephone.

Q Did you give any instructions? A I told her not to serve him
anything else. That I would be right in. I live only five to seven minutes
away.

Q Why didn't she ask him to leave? A She had the power to
ask him to leave, or to call the police if he became over unruly. I think
that she believed that she being a female that the easiest way to take care
of it was to call me. We try to avoid some disturbances in the place. And
I believe that she did what she thought was best under these circumstances.

Q Is that the way you take care of all such decisions? She calls
you and you come down? A I just explained our general practice.
She has the power to call the police if necessary. We handled this in the
manner we thought best at the time.
[76] Q If she told you that a man was going in your storeroom
demanding beer, would you tell her to call the police? A She would
call the police first, and then call me.

Q You didn't tell her to call the police when a man was threatening to beat up everybody at the bar? A Every situation is different.
At the time she called me it hadn't developed to the stage of calling
the police. I told her to serve him no more beer and I would come in
and observe what the situation was.

Q You didn't have any confidence in your waitress, did you? A
I have tried to explain to you that every situation is different. We only
tried to do what was best under the circumstances.

Q Mr. Depalma testified that he "patted" you on the back of
the head. You testified that he hit you. Just how was his approach to
you? A He hit me on the back of my head when I wasn't looking,
and the blow knocked me off the barstool. And that's exactly how we
explained the situation in the Arlington Court, and the judge dismissed
the charges.

Q Do you visit the Safeway store? A I have never been in
the Safeway store.
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Q Were you present when the officers came in to investigate the
disorder? A I was in the kitchen.
Q Why didn't you come out? A I didn't know they were there.
I didn't know they were out front. We have officers come in from time
to time routinely. My staff didn't pay too much attention to it.

Q Why did your wife tell them that you hadn't been there all
day? A

I don't know that she did.

Q Was she there when you were involved in the disorder with
Mr. Depalma? A As soon as we arrived there she went into the ladies
room. I don't think she even knew that I had the problem with him. It
all happened so quickly. In about two seconds the gentleman was out
of the back door. I don't think any of the customers even saw the
thing happen. The back door is so close and we went right out of the
back door.
[ 77] Q And the man hit you hard enough to knock you off
the barstool. You are a right heavy man-you are not overweight, you
are no light person, you look strong. Are you going to tell me that the
man hit you hard enough to knock you off the barstool, and nobody saw
it? A I'll have to explain to you, sir, the situation, where we were
located. The dining room is here, and the door is back here at the
end. Back there is only the men's room and the hall way going out of
that door.

Q We are talking about a man who is boisterous, standing at the
bar, going to whip everybody there, and finally hits a man and knocks
him off the barstool, and nobody sees it? A Well, I was trying to explain the location of the bar, and the closeness of that part of the bar
to the door. When he hit me and knocked me off the bar stool, and
I grabbed him and hustled him out of the back in about two steps. And
the music was playing, and most of the patron's backs were to us, and
it happened so fast nobody really saw it.

Q Nobody saw it? A I don't know.
Q You don't know of one soul that saw it? A I really don't, no.
Q You don't know of one soul that saw it?
Mr. Andrews: I think he is referring to customers, Mr. Carrigan

App.51

Q You don't know of any person who observed this take place?
A No, just the girl behind the bar.
Q Did any person see that thing take place? A The bartender.
It happened to be that the bartender is a girl, if there's any question
about a man or anything.
Mr. Andrews: In fact, it is the same bartender that called you at
home?
A Yes, sir.

Q Is this the person who testified in your support and against Mr.
Depalma? A Yes.
[78] Q Or in your behalf, one way or the other?
the judge dismissed the charge.

A Yes. And

Q Did you have your wife call the police officers? A No, sir,
I did not.

Q When the officers were there, did you hear her cursing them?
A I think she was screaming, I don't ever recall her cursing any of
the police officers.

Q Are you saying that she did not? A Yes, sir.

Q You are saying that she did not engage in a pushing or shoving
contest with the police officers and shouting obscenities at them? A In
my presence she did not. I think that Mr. Churchbourne overreacted in
the situation, to tell you the truth, that's my own belief of it. She was
arguing with Mr. Churchbourne, as far as calling him a son-of-a-bitch,
I know she did not. And I asked her to go back inside because she was
upset because she saw them handcuffing me. And she started to go inside, and he grabbed her and put her under arrest.
And I will level with you and tell you that he and I have had
confrontations before. It's just a personal conflict, and this was a perfect
chance for him to get back at me. And I believe that's exactly what he
did. And I am sorry that he's not here right now to hear it. Because there
is no reason for two individuals to be that way, but he and I have
never got along.

Q While this establishment has been licensed since April 2,
1971, you and your wife have only been officers of the corporation since
July 1974, is that correct? A I was before. She has not been an
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officer up until I bought my partner out. I worked there two years
before I bought him out.

Q This took place in May of this year? A Yes, sir.
Q In '74? A Yes, sir.
Q

That was last year?

[79]

A

Yes, sir.

Q Where is your wife today? A She is working.

Q At the restaurant? A Yes, sir.
Mr. Zachary: I have no further questions.
By Mr. Andrews:
Q Mr. Carrigan, you testified on direct-examination by Mr.
Zachary that you understand that your wife did not curse the police
officers? A I did.

Q You don't know exactly what happened out of your presence,
do you? A No, sir.
Mr. Zachary: I believe he said that he never heard her curse, or
use that type of language.
A I was standing right besides them when Officer Churchbourne
arrested her, and she did not go back into the restaurant. She was trying
to when he arrested her.
Mr. Andrews: I think that's all that I have, Mr. Zachary.

J.

H. HOLLAND, Sworn, testified: (Recalled)

By Mr. Zachary:
Q Mr. Holland, did you obtain any additional information for
the record from the Arlington County Police Department with reference
to the disposition of the court in the charges against Mr. and Mrs. Carrigan? A Yes, sir. I obtained the information from the clerk of the
court of Arlington County. On October 30th of this year they went to
the court, and she pleaded not guilty to the charge of disorderly conduct. However, she was found guilty, and if her record remained clear
for a period of six months at the end of the six months period, April 30,
1975, the record would be dismissed. I spoke to Mrs. Gates. That was
with reference to the disorderly conduct charges.
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[80] Q Did you learn the disposition of the charges against
George Patrick Carrigan? A Yes, sir. That charge was dismissed.

Q

On the same date?
gan's date.

A

I did not ask her about Mr. Carri-

Mr. Andrews: I believe that the record reflected that it was the
same date, October 30, 1974.
Mr. Zachary: Both of them the same date?
Mr. Andrews: Yes, sir.
Mr. Andrews: You can appreciate the problem that I might have.
At the beginning of the hearing as to your inquiry about the other two
witnesses.
Upon receiving the notice of hearing from Mr. Shobe, it was my
belief that the gravity of the charges were directed toward Mr. Carrigan personally, and not to the conduct of his wife, and that is why I
didn't ask her to appear. As far as the waitress to substantiate Mr. Carrigan's testimony, I believed that since Judge Dodd had dismissed the
charges against him, corroboration would not be necessary here.
Of course it would be beneficial to have them testify, and I would
be only too happy to make them available to you so that you could
hear their testimony. I believe the waitress would make a good witness
in that she is familiar with all that went on. I will make them available
to you whenever and wherever you wish.
Mr. Zachary: I'm sorry, but you can't run your witnesses up here
one at a time.
Mr. Andrews: I hope that you can appreciate my problem. It's
my fault for not having them here today. I thought the hearing was only
in relation to Mr. Carrigan's conduct. I am making this offer to the
Board if it wishes to hear these two [81] witnesses at any future date.
Mr. Zachary: Is that all?
Mr. Andrews: I would like to address myself now to the actual
citation. The court did try this case and subsequently found Mr.
Carrigan not guilty. However, in all candor, the court had a problem
with the matter, and I think that it's the same problem that you have,
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whether or not this is a routine way of ejecting an unruly or disorderly
customer.
Judge Dodd reproached Mr. Carrigan, that the next time something like that happened he would be better off to go to the telephone
and call for the assistance of the police rather than taking the matter
into his own hands.
I mentioned this so you could be fully cognizant with all aspects of
the case. And I believe that if this incident happened today, Mr. Carrigan would not handle it in the same way as he did that situation.
Now I am not making any excuses for Mr. Carrigan. But I am
sure that when he found himself in that situation, he wanted to get rid
of the incident as quickly as possible. He wanted to get him outside, and
he did so. Whether or not he would act in the same way today, I
seriously doubt.
Mr. Depalma said that he gave him a pat on the back of the head
because he was friendly with him. Mr. Carrigan said that he was
struck with some force on the back of the head and in an instant acted
to defend himself. Who is telling the truth?
The record will show that Mr. Depalma told the police officers
something different at the time of his complaint. He told Officer Churchbourne he didn't even know his name, and could only give a description
of the man who put him out. Mr. Carrigan had told him to finish the
beer he was drinking, then he would have to leave. Does that sound
like the precondition of a man who would give another a friendly pat,
or a man acting in anger? You will have to be the judge of that.
Great emphasis has been placed on Mrs. Carrigan's testimony or
reported statements to Officer [82] Churchbourne that she hadn't seen
her husband. I have been associated with the matter since it happened
and this is the first time I have heard that statement made, my first
knowledge of this or any statement made by Mrs. Carrigan to Officer
Churchbourne that indicated she had not seen Pat Carrigan on that
particular evening. I participated in the two trials, and Officer Churchbournecertainly testified at great length in one of them; and yet, this
is the first time I have ever heard that statement testified to.
In conclusion, there has been a personal conflict between Officer
Churchbourne and Mr. Carrigan. I only wanted to mention this for the
benefit of the examiner, and I will say no more about that.
In conclusion, the record of the applicant, or the holder of this
license, I submit, has been good up to now. I think it is unfortunate
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that the incident occurred; however, the hearing examiner has the
benefit of Judge Dodd's disposition in this matter as to Mr. Carrigan.
Mrs. Carrigan's behavior, I might cite the case was only over the
abusive language charge, the court did not involve itself as it might have
in the pushing and shoving charge as it is alluded to. There was argument as to whether or not the language allegation was disorderly conduct, I argued that it was not, the judge ruled otherwise, but I think that
is why such a light sentence was pronounced in the matter and giving her
the opportunity to have her record completely clean in six months.
If the Hearing Officer bases his decision on the conduct of Mrs.
Carrigan, and that is all we have left, I ask that he take into consideration that Judge Dodd's decision was in fact practically a complete exoneration of the Carrigans. And I ask that you not make an adverse
recommendation in light of that exoneration.
In conclusion I can only say that the quality of the proof on the
charge is not enough to invoke suspension or revocation of the applicant's license at this time. Thank you, sir.
Mr. Zachary: Have all interested parties been adequately heard in
this matter?
[83]

Mr. Andrews: We have, your honor.

Mr. Zachary: The Hearing Officer will take the matter under
advisement. You will hear from the Hearing Officer by mail as to his
decision, that would be accompanied by a copy of his findings and conclusions.
At the same time that your report is forwarded to you, a copy of it
will be forwarded to the Board in Richmond.
If the decision is one not to your liking, you will have ample opportunity to file an appeal. Likewise, if it is one that the Board would
consider amending in some way, it, too, could call for a hearing in
Richmond. That would be before at least two of the three-member
Board. And the hearing in Richmond would be based on the record of
this hearing and confined to arguments only.
Mr. Andrews: Then it is up to the Board to make that decision,
whether they would call for an appeal hearing?
Mr. Zachary: Yes. In the communication that you receive in this
matter from me, will be a letter of appeal, a letter of opportunity to
appeal.
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Mr. Carrigan, from my remarks don't try to guess the Hearing
Officer and how he might decide in this case.
You have indicated that there might be some personality conflict
between you and one of the police officers. Whatever difficulty you might
have, if it is, you can't let it affect this business. The Board depends on
you and the police department to work together. The Board does not
expect to issue you a license and have you man-handle people in your
establishment. You are supposed to call for the assistance of the local
police department when needed.
Certainly there may be a time when you may have to restrain someone. Not all licensees can do that. It is just natural to restrain someone
if they are attacking you, but it is not necessary to whip them, so to
speak.
If you are going to become a part of the disorder [ 84] in your
establishment. Regardless of who started it, if there is a disorder you are
a part of it.
I am not talking necessarily about what happened October 16th.
I'm just talking in general. What I am trying to get across to you is
if you need assistance, you should call on the local law enforcement
officials.
You can't call on them to use for your bouncer. You have got to
operate an orderly establishment. And when the Board licenses an applicant, it expects it to be one that is going to attract an orderly patronage.
If you call the police you are expected to swear out a warrant and
follow through on it in court. You just can't call on it and say, "Take
that man out!" You have to be prepared to swear out a warrant and
follow through.
If you had a person come in your place and do this and your
waitress called you at home and told you that, and you told her to call
the police and swear out a warrant, and the police came there, they
are not coming looking for you or the waitress, they are coming looking
for the person that caused the disorder and you want to swear out a
warrant for.
I have concluded that your wife was disorderly. And that type of
conduct cannot be tolerated by licensees or officers and directors or corporations that are licensed. The court, in its findings in her case, has
given her some period of time to show that she can be an orderly person
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or that she may be. According to the record, the established time is six
months.
The Board would look for it to be a longer time than that, for
the length of time that you hold this license. I say this to stress upon
you the importance of operating an orderly establishment and ask that
you caution your wife likewise.
I have no fixed prejudices, but I would probably admit there are
many citizens who would look at a topless go-go place with one strict
glance, with never having put a foot inside.
Those are some of the reasons that this type of place probably needs
to be more careful than some [ 85] other people run in other restaurants.
That's all that I have to say. Thank you.
Mr. Andrews: Thank you, Mr. Zachary, we will await your report.
FINDINGS OF FACT

[86]
The evidence in this case shows that on Wednesday, October 16,
1974, between 11:30 p.m. and 12:45 a.m. of the next ensuing day
Arlington County Police Officers H. J. Churchbourne and T. H. Hoffman responded to a call at the Village Grill to investigate a fight.
Upon entering the establishment they observed Mr. George Patrick
Carrigan, president of the licensee-corporation, go into the kitchen area
of the restaurant. The waitress advised the police officers that there had
been no fight in the establishment.
Mrs. Susan Ann Carrigan, vice president of the licensee-corporation, advisedly speculated at that time that the officers were investigating a fight, and stated her husband was not and had not been present.
She also advised the officers that there had been no fight on the licensed
premises, and they had no business in the restaurant, and attempted
to block their passage. Mrs. Carrigan called the police headquarters and
lodged a complaint that two police officers were harassing her.
On leaving the establishment, G. A. Depalma approached the police
officers and advised that Mr. Carrigan, without cause or reason, had
assaulted him in the restaurant. Mr. Depalma was taken to the police
station and subsequently to the hospital for treatment of facial and
wrist lacerations. Mr. Depalma obtained a warrant charging Mr.
George Patrick Carrigan with assault and battery.
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The police officers returned to the establishment, found Mr. Carrigan present, and asked him to go outside (to avoid embarrassment)
where they placed him under arrest and served the warrant. During that
time Mrs. Carrigan again [87] displayed her hypersensitive personality,
interfered with the police officers in making an orderly arrest, and
shouted, "Get your God damned hands off my husband, you son-of-abitch," and, "You are all a bunch of bastards." After Mrs. Carrigan
failed to heed the police officers' warnings, she was arrested for being
disorderly.
Mr. Carrigan denied that his wife abused the police officers, and
further claimed that she never used the type of language attributed to
her by the police officers. Mr. Carrigan stated that his wife was upset
at seeing him arrested, and that he personally requested her to go back
into the restaurant. There was no indication that Mr. Carrigan resisted
arrest or was disorderly at that time.
On October 30, 1974, in Arlington County General District Court,
the charges against Mr. Carrigan were dismissed. On the same date,
Mrs. Carrigan was found guilty for being disorderly and conditioned
upon her keeping the peace for six months (4/3/75) the charge would
then be dismissed.
Mr. G. A. Depalma testified that he had entered the Village Grill
on Wednesday, October 16, 1974, at approximately 11:00 p.m., and was
consuming a second beer at the restaurant (previously consumed one
beer at home) when Mr. Carrigan entered. Mr. Depalma stated that
he knew Mr. Carrigan as a patron at another retail establishment and
greeted him with a "pat" on the back of his head, whereupon Carrigan
repeatedly struck him (Depalma) and invited him to fight. Depalma
claimed he was told to leave the restaurant and he did so.
Mr. Carrigan testified that he was at home with his wife when the
waitress summoned them to the restaurant because a loud, boisterous
man (supposedly Mr. Depalma) drinking beer was threatening to "beat
up everybody [88] at the bar." Carrigan stated that he seated himself
on a stool next to Depalma for the purpose of observing him and had
already decided that Depalma should not be served more beer when
Depalma struck him (Carrigan) and knocked him off the bar stool.
Carrigan gave this as the reason for striking Depalma and hustling him
off the premises so fast that none of the patrons and only the waitress
had observed the encounter. He claimed Mrs. Carrigan was in the rest
room at the time and had no knowledge of the disorder.
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Mr. Carrigan indicated this difficulty is the result of a personality
conflict between himself and Arlington Police Officer H. J. Churchbourne.
1730 Wilson, Inc. has held this beer on and off premises license
since April 2, 1971, for the operation of a topless go-go restaurant type
of business. The licensee has not previously been cited for violations of
the ABC Act or Board Regulations, and no written warnings have been
issued paralleling the alleged irregularities. The file indicates that
George Patrick Carrigan and Susan Ann Carrigan became president
and vice president respectively of the licensee-corporation on May 14,
1974.
Conclusions:
On October 16, 1974, between 11 : 30 p.m. and 12: 45 a.m., next
ensuing, a disorder did take place upon the Village Grill's licensed
premises. Mrs. Susan Ann Carrigan, vice president of the licensee-corporation, and another person employed as a waitress failed to cooperate
with local police officers investigating the disorder by falsely claiming a
disorder had not occurred. Mrs. Carrigan falsely claimed her husband
was not on the premises when in fact she knew otherwise. Throughout
the events of the evening, Mrs. Carrigan conducted herself in an unladylike manner.
[89] Mr. George Patrick Carrigan's claim that Mr. George A.
Depalma's conduct precipitated the disorder is not reasonable. The
implication that Mr. Depalma might have been intoxicated is not reasonable inasmuch as he was not arrested for being drunk in public, and
in his state of being, he obtained a warrant charging Carrigan with
assault and battery. In any event, Mr. Carrigan overreacted and involved himself in a disorder that could and should have been avoided.
If Mr. Carrigan's account of the evening's activities can be accepted as
factual, the waitress, supposedly the first person concerned by Depalma's
action, should have asked the offending party to leave the premises
and/or called for police assistance and obtained a warrant charging
disorderly conduct.
It is evident from the outset that officials of the licensee-corporation did not want or appreciate police involvement. Such attitudes and
actions displayed by the licensee-corporation officials place restaurant
patrons in a dangerous environment.
The charge is substantiated by the evidence.
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Decision:
That the license be suspended for a period of thirty (30) days, and
thereafter placed on probation.

*

*

*

TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING BEFORE THE BOARD

*

*

*

[90] Mr. Jeffrey: This matter was heard before A. Allen Zachary, Jr., Hearing Officer, at Alexandria on January 9, 1975, and the
charge was that on October 16, 1974, between 11 : 30 and 12 : 45 you
allowed disorderly conduct upon the licensed premises.
Mr. Yeatts: The Hearing Officer concluded that on October 16,
1974, between 11:30 p.m. and 12:45 a.m., next ensuing, a disorder
did take place upon the Village Grill's licensed premises. Mrs. Susan
Ann Carrigan, vice president of the licensee-corporation, and another
person employed as a waitress failed to cooperate with local police
officers investigating the disorder by falsely claiming a disorder had
not occurred. Mrs. Carrigan falsely claimed her husband was not on
the premises when in fact she knew otherwise. Throughout the events of
the evening, Mrs. Carrigan conducted herself in an unladylike manner.
Mr. George Patrick Carrigan's claim that Mr. George A. Depalma's conduct precipitated the disorder is not reasonable. The implication that Mr. Depalma might have been intoxicated is not reasonable
inasmuch as he was not arrested for being drunk in public, and in his
state of being, he obtained a warrant charging Carrigan with assault
and battery. In any event, Mr. Carrigan overreacted and involved himself in a disorder that could and should have been avoided. If Mr. Carrigan's account of the evening's activities can be accepted as factual, the
waitress, supposedly the first person concerned by Depalma's action,
should have asked the offending party to leave the premises andjor
called for police assistance and obtained a warrant charging disorderly
conduct.
It is evident from the outset that officials of the licensee-corporation
did not want or appreciate police involvement. Such attitudes and actions displayed by the licensee-corporation officials place restaurant
patrons in a dangerous environment. And he found the charge substantiated by the evidence and made the decision that the license be suspended for a period of thirty days and thereafter placed on probation.
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Mr. Jeffrey: And the licensee has requested an appeal hearing
before the Board upon being apprised of the initial decision and the fact
that the Board proposed to confirm the initial decision. And Mr. Wright,
you represent the licensee? And you are different counsel from the one
who was present at the earlier hearing. And who is with you, is this
Mr. Carrigan?
[91] Mr. Wright: This is Mr. Carrigan, who is the president of
the licensee-corporation, Mr. Jeffrey. Mr. Andrews, Mr. Leo Andrews,
who did represent the licensee before Mr. Zachary, is also present. He
has asked me, inasmuch I practice in Richmond to represent Mr. Carrigan, and had been before the Board.
Gentlemen, in keeping with the Board's rules, I have suggested
to Mr. Carrigan that rather than parade all the people down here ...
Let me start off first by saying the Secretary's office graciously sent me
the transcript which I asked for a copy of, and he sent his original file
copy and asked that I return it. I apologize for not having done so. Do
you have a second copy of the transcript?
Mr. Yeatts: I have a summary and one full copy.
Mr. Wright: I would like to give it back, but I want to hold on to
it during the course of the appeal hearing.
Mr. Jeffrey: I have a copy.
Mr. Wright: The charge involves Section 4-37(a) (1) (g) which
says he has allowed disorderly conduct on the licensed premises, and
the incident involved in the hearing before Hearing Officer Zachary was
the ejection of a person from the premises who was being disorderly and
the manner in which that ejection was carried out. I would like to
point out in the very outset that a good deal of our disagreements with
Mr. Zachary's conclusions arise from the fact that the ABC Inspectors
charged with keeping up with Mr. Carrigan's license, Mr. Holland and
Mr. Kelley, are both very complimentary of the manner in which he
runs his establishment. It is a first-class establishment. There have been
no complaints. They did not initiate the complaint but Mr. Churchbourne who came up to the gentleman and said they would like to issue
a complaint.
Mr. Carrigan and Mr. Churchbourne have had disagreements before. Mr. Churchbourne was previously on the beat that covers the
Village Grill, and Mr. Carrigan complained to the police department

App.62
about him, and they had him transferred somewhere else. Whatever
complaint Mr. Carrigan has against him had enough merit that they
sent Mr. Churchboume elsewhere, and on that night in question Mr.
Churchboume came back to the beat where the Village Grill was and
he is the gentleman who got these charges together and prosecuted this
thing and brought it to the attention of Holland and Kelley. Holland
and Kelley did not do so.
[92] Mr. Jeffrey: Mr. Wright, in reading this and I may have
missed it, but I sought an answer for one question and never saw it.
Who called the police in the first place on this night in question?
Mr. Wright: The gentleman, Mr. Depalma, walked out of the
establishment and ran into Mr. Churchboume, and Mr. Churchbourne
... and this is very important because Mr. Zachary said Mr. Depalma
was already leaving when Churchboume saw him ... got him and said
you will file a warrant against this guy. And he filled out the warrant
for him.
Mr. Jeffrey: There is other testimony to indicate the police responded to a call that said a fight was in progress at this establishment,
and I am interested in who called in.
Mr. Wright: We believe that the bartender maybe called the
police. But, the point is, not only did she call the police, but Mr. Depalma ran into Mr. Churchboume on the outside of the licensed premises. It doesn't surprise me that Mr. Churchbourne didn't charge him
with drunk in public.
There was a criminal trial in Arlington where Mr. Depalma testified and Mr. Churchbourne, and this gentleman testified. And the judge
who heard the case concluded the charge was not substantiated, this
charge of assault and battery. And that Mr. Depalma hit him on the
head. And for that reason dismissed the charge.
Gentlemen, as I said, in keeping with the Board's ru1es, I don't
intend to put Mr. Carrigan back on to go over all the evidence. I wou1d
state for the Board that the gentleman employs twelve individuals. His
payroll is $2,000 per week and a thirty-day suspension would put him
out of business. He will have to fire these people and add to the burdening role of the unemployed. The record of this gentleman from '71, at
which time he was secretary of the licensee-corporation, and not president, was without so much as a single warning, no violations, no sales

App. 63
to minors, nothing. And on the first violation in which he is a slight too
aggressive in ejecting a patron out of the establishment, not on the motion of the ABC Inspectors or by a police officer, and even though the
charge was dropped before a court of law, what do you have but a
thirty-day suspension.
[93] Mr. Zachary, in his conclusions, is claiming Mrs. Carrigan
is unladylike. Unless she is lewd, or intoxicated, or does something prohibited by the law, that shouldn't concern Mr. Zachary. I think Mrs.
Carrigan learned a lesson. She made some derogatory statements to the
police officers, but it was outside of the establishment after the disorder
occurred and should not be a subject of this inquiry. But it concerned
Mr. Zachary that this licensee does not seem to want to work with the
police officers. And gentlemen, nothing in the world could be further
from the truth.
After this incident regarding the disorderly patron in his establishment, Mr. Carrigan is continuously at the premises during hours of
operation when these things are likely to occur there. The police have
complained he is causing trouble, and he isn't maintaining order in the
establishment. But the man knows he must maintain order himself and
exercises discretion in when to call the police. If he made a mistake in
getting too aggress.ive with one man who knocks him off the barstool, it
should be accounted for, and that should be in the court of law, and they
dismissed the charges completely.
It seems unusually cruel and harsh to put a man out of business,
his twelve employees out on the street when it was found that the
evidence was not sufficient to cause the judge and the General District
Court to find the man guilty for improper conduct of any type.
Mr. Layman: What is the ratio of food to beverages? Is it three
to one?
Mr. Carrigan: I serve about 35 percent food to beer.
Mr. Layman: And your establishment-we are often told Norfolk,
Virginia is a separate and distinct area and I gather people from Norfolk, Virginia get sensitive about it, they don't like to be other than
traditional Virginians-but in certain parts of the State there are
establishments that could operate under a restaurant license and sell the
majority food, more food than beer. In fact, there are quite a few
restaurants that don't have ABC licenses that can still make a go of it,
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and I wonder why a thirty-day suspension, not revocation, would destroy
completely your business? Why wouldn't it be just as reasonable ...
[94]

Mr. Carrigan: Because if ...

Mr. Jeffrey: Just a moment now.
Mr. Layman: I was directing my question to Mr. Wright?
Mr. Wright: He has about $50,000 worth of notes for purchasing
the establishment.
Mr. Jeffrey: Mr. Wright, would you ascertain the reason from
Mr. Carrigan and relay it please?
Mr. Wright: (After conferring with his client) Gentlemen, in 1974,
in May, when the corporation ownership changed to the present licensee,
Mr. Carrigan, the transaction was accomplished by the payment to the
then owner which was financed in two very large notes with the United
Virginia Bank or VNB. The payment on those notes considered with
the payroll and food costs and other fixed costs are more than the sale
of food alone would cover.
Mr. Layman: Mr. Wright, let me ask you a question. This is a
corporation?
Mr. Wright: Yes, sir.
Mr. Layman: Who are the principals of the corporation?
Mr. Wright: Mr. Carrigan and his wife and Mary Bierlein, secretary.
Mr. Yeatts: Let me point this out to you. You commented twice
on the fact that the case against Mr. Carrigan was heard in Arlington
County General District Court and was dismissed but the charge against
Mrs. Carrigan, who is just as much a part of the corporation as Mr.
Carrigan according to what you just said, was not dismissed, and quite
frankly, in my review of this situation the thirty days suggested as a
suspension by Mr. Zachary is more along the line of her actions than
Mr. Carrigan.
Mr. Wright: Mr. Yeatts, I am glad you brought that up for
the record. I would direct your attention to the charge, and the charge
is on October 16th between certain times, "you allowed disorderly conduct upon the licensed premises .... "Now, Mrs. Carrigan's actions for
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which she was charged and fined for, [95] did not occur on the premises at the time or close to the time of the alleged disorder about which
Mr. Zachary was asked to inquire. They occurred out in the street
later in the evening when the police came to arrest Mr. Carrigan. Her
conduct was regrettable, and I make no excuse for it, but it did not occur
on the licensed premises.
Mr. Yeatts: Where was she when she advised the police officers
there had been no fight?
Mr. Wright: I don't believe that is unladylike conduct nor considered in Section (g) . We are here to discuss the charge we are charged
with, which is, he allowed noisy, lewd, or disorderly conduct on the
premises. Telling a fib to a police officer is something we shouldn't
do, but it is not a violation under Section 4-37 (a) ( 1) (g), and we only
have to defend what we are charged with.
Mr .. Layman: I am not sure I understand what you said Mr.
Wright. This language used which is recited in the findings at the top
of page 37, where did that occur?
Mr. Wright: Outside the licensed premises while Mr. Carrigan
was being leaned up against the wall and handcuffed. And the police
officer asked her to return. to the premises, at which time the bad
language ceased while she was inside the licensed premises. She was
acting in a ladylike manner then, on the street she was a little less
demure. I am not making excuses for Mrs. Carrigan's conduct. Mrs.
Carrigan has taken note, she is on probation for acting in this fashion
with the court. It is safe to say she will not indulge in such unruliness
again. If she does, we know what will happen.
Mr. Layman: You are not contending Mrs. Carrigan's conduct
didn't occur within the time frame?
Mr. Wright: I don't think there is evidence when it occurred, but
the charge brought by the police officers was that this gentleman had
ruffed up and hustled Mr. Depalma out of his premises at about 11 : 30
in the evening. That is why he made the charge to Inspectors Holland
and Kelley. It had nothing to do with Mrs. Carrigan. Now, Mr.
Zachary, when he heard the evidence all this stuff came in and it was
impressive to Mr. Zachary that someone would act that way. And he
was concerned about a disregard towards cooperating with the police
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which would be a dis[96]advantage to the public, in the event it was
true. As a matter of fact, Officer Churchbourne despises this individual,
and it was an unfortunate situation that arsoe because of that, and
because of Mr. Carrigan's conduct, which was out-of-order, which is
over with.
The police are now cooperating with the other officers and Mr.
Carrigan to maintain order. There is no evidence that they don't cooperate with the police. I wish Holland and Kelley were here to say
he runs a first-rate shop, and we would not have placed this charge if
Churchbourne hadn't made us do it.
Mr. Jeffrey: Certainly because a criminal court dismisses a criminal charge against a man, for whatever, disorderly conduct, as I gather
does not of itself render an essential conclusion that administratively
Mr. Carrigan cannot reasonably be found to have attributed to this
disorderly conduct.
Mr. Wright: Yes, sir, and I am aware that the burden of proof is
different in a criminal court, but the conclusions drawn by the Hearing
Officer are that Mr. Depalma was struck by Mr. Carrigan. That is
what Mr. Zachary concluded. He concluded that this is what happened. I can't imagine a man running a bar striking a man. I find it
very unlikely. But I can imagine a man being struck who runs a bar
by a disorderly patron and having his temper get away from him.
I cite the court findings because they heard the evidence and concluded he wasn't guilty. A conclusion directly contrary to Mr. Zachary's
and Mr. Zachary's is not correct.
Mr. Jeffrey: Thank you. I have nothing further unless you all have
some questions.
Mr. Wright: Are there any questions that you have. I will be
glad to answer any concerns you have or hear any advice you have to
tell Mr. Carrigan. I know I don't represent many barkeepers, but I
have heard of bouncers, and a bouncer is one who maintains order by
telling one that you don't knock someone in the head, and then taking
them from the establishment. You don't call the police everytime someone says a four-letter word. You are charged with the attempt to maintain order, but when do you get to the point you call the police, and this
is when the police should have been called. This is a first violation and
first problem, and I ask you gentlemen to allow him to stay in [97]
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business, and if we come back down here again, gentlemen, then sockit-to him.
Mr. Jeffrey: Mr. Wright, in reading the transcript on this thing~
and there still seem to be a couple unanswered questions as to exactly
what transpired and also there seems to be a little bit of confusion on
the charges, whether it was the altercation that developed or the involvement of Mrs. Carrigan and the language. And I conclude it was
probably both. And second is the action of the court, notwithstanding
Mr. Depalma's somehow receiving multiple cuts and lacerations about
the right eye, inside the mouth and right wrist causing need for immediate treatment in an Arlington hospital. Unless someone concludes
he fell on the parking lot, then something happened. I would ask one
question was this gentleman in handcuffs when his wife's alleged statements took place?
Mr. Wright: I believe that is correct.
Mr. Jeffrey: That is all I have.
Mr. Wright: Thank you gentlemen.
Mr. Jeffrey: Thank you Mr. Wright, thank you sir, and thank
you Mr. Carrigan.
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